
 
 
 
State of Nebraska Purchasing Bureau 
ATTN: Annette Walton  
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, NE 68508 

 
 

May 24, 2022 
 
 
ATTN: Purchasing Bureau and Evaluation Committee 
 

Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. (MAP), per our mission statement to be dedicated to 
helping rural communities and tribal nations improve their environment, quality of life and 
achieve self-sustainability, appreciates the opportunity to bid for and confidently submits this 
proposal in response to the following solicitation: 

 
Solicitation Number: 6691 Zl 
Service: Board/Owners technical, managerial, and financial instruction and 

training/workshops to Nebraska’s community and non-transient non-community public 
water systems (Systems) serving populations of 10,000 or less.   

Dated: April 21, 2022 
Opening Date: May 24, 2022, 2PM Central Time 

 
MAP has been an impactful technical assistance provider and trainer in Nebraska and 

eight other midwestern states for over forty years. Our focus and specialties have been 
technical, financial and managerial capacity development for drinking water and waste 
water systems, which aligns us with the scope of work being solicited. Additionally we have 
serviced numerous Nebraska contracts during our tenure as a company, with productive and 
positive results. 

 
We look forward to continuing our valued relationship with the Nebraska agencies, 

Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy, as well as providing valued service, 
resources and assistance to the rural systems of Nebraska that are essential to their well-
being, growth, and sustainment. 

 
Respectfully, 

 

MIKE BROWNFIELD 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

Midwest 
Assistance 
Program -serving rural communities since 1979 
RCAP NETWORK MEMSER 
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SECTION I – Request for Services and Information 
  
 A.  Request for Proposal for Contractual Services Form is provided as Attachment A, as 
our guarantee to comply with the procedures stated in this Solicitation (6691 Z1) and agreement 
to the terms and conditions unless otherwise indicated in writing, and certifying that MAP 
maintains a drug free workplace.  MAP’s Drug Free Workplace Policy is provided as Attachment 
G.  Form A Contact Information, per Solicitation 6691 Z1, is provided as Attachment B.   
 
 B.  Corporate Overview 
 
  Midwest Assistance Program (MAP), Inc. is a not-for-profit, technical assistance 
and training organization that serves the nine states of Nebraska, Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, 
Missouri, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wyoming. MAP has provided on-site 
technical assistance services and training to rural and tribal communities for over 40 years. This 
assistance and training have encompassed all forms of operational compliance, as well as technical, 
managerial, and financial capacity development related to water and wastewater systems. MAP 
will bring to this project the oversight of professional, competent managers, technical expertise of 
Nebraska based technical assistance providers (currently 4), and a national network of partners 
and resources. 
 
  Over the last 40 plus years, MAP has been granted and has successfully managed 
and serviced many drinking water contracts; including ones similar in scope of work identified for 
this solicitation.  We are very familiar with the small public water systems in Nebraska and the 
challenges they face, as we currently provide TA and training under four federal grants, a NE DEE 
state contract and a Community College contract which we annually service/train and impact an 
average of 300-plus systems.  Board and council capacity development is key element in almost 
every grant and contract we currently service.  Annual we conduct over 30 management and 
finance focused training attended by 300 plus attendees representing over 200 systems.   
 
  The Midwest Assistance Program has a team of leaders that always put the 
reputation and integrity of our industry above all else. MAP, Inc is truly an independent 3rd party 
organization which allows us to educate and support communities without having ties that could 
be affected adversely or have conflicts of interest. We have a multi-tiered Management Team 
that ensures all work is professional, efficient, competent and relevant to the scope of programs 
that we are awarded to implement.  Almost 80% of our program funding is for direct 
implementation of programs by staff in the field and any resources they need to successfully 
accomplish the deliverables and intent of the programs.  Utilizing the decades of program 
management and oversight, MAP is adept at maximizing program funding for production, 
results, and leveraging additional funds for the communities we serve.  Our staff’s diversity 
mixed with the numerous programs we manage allows us to maximize the not only the scope of 
work we can accomplish, but the number of systems we impact and to the degree of impact we 
can make.   
 
 MAP has always accomplished and in most cases exceeded the goals and deliverables of 
our grants and contracts, which has led to us sustaining seven national environmental grants, one 
regional EPA contract, four state contracts and one Community College contract for well over 
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ten years.  We additionally have been awarded three new state contracts in the past three years.  
We have always received high marks on evaluations of our performance and maintain a highly 
professional reputation known for being responsible and accountable.  Meeting the specified 
minimum requirements and timeline for this proposal will not be an issue.  MAP continues to 
make drinking water and waste water its primary focus, and has never veered from its core skills, 
passion and roots.   
 
 The following specific information is provided per solicitation. 
 
  Bidder Identification and Information 
 
  Corporate Name:  Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 
  Corporate Address:  309 East Summit Drive, Maryville, MO  64468 
  Corporate Phone Number:  660 562-2575 
  Corporate Email:  map@map-inc.org 
  Corporate Website:  map-inc.org 
  Entity Organization:  Private 501c3 Non-Profit Corporation 
  State Incorporated:  Nebraska 
  States Organized to do Business In:  Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, 
Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota, Wyoming 
  Year Organized:  November 1979 
  Other Assumed Names to Conduct Business: None 
  Other Forms of Organization to Conduct Business: None 
  Federal Employer Identification Number: #47-0611476 
 
  Financial Statements 
 
  Midwest Assistance Program, Inc 2021 Financial Audit is included in this proposal as 
Attachment F.   
 
  Established in 1979, Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. is a not-for-profit 
organization controlled by a nine-member board of directors. Board members represent a variety 
of professional and community backgrounds and serve as volunteers for staggered three-year 
terms.  MAP provides drinking water, waste water, solid waste training and technical assistance 
to communities through renewed and established programs funded by three federal agencies, 
seven state agencies, one community college partnership and fee-for-service contracts (for 
services requested but not authorized under grants and contracts). Over the past five years MAP 
has grown by over a dozen staff, and annually impacts over 700 communities in its nine-state 
region.   
 
  There are no known judgments pending or expected litigation or other potential 
financial reversals which might materially affect the stability of MAP 
 
  Change of Ownership 
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  No change in ownership or control of the agency is anticipated during the next 12 
months. 
 
  Office Location 
 
  The corporate office of the Midwest Assistance Program is located at: 
 
       309 East Summit Drive, Maryville, MO  64468 
       Phone: 660.562.2575 – Fax: 660.562.2579 
 
  Relationships with the State 
 
  Currently MAP, Inc is under contract with the state of Nebraska per Contract Number 
81741 O4 (Bid Document 5790 Z1) Technical, Financial and Managerial Assistance for NE 
Public Water Systems for the period July 1, 2018 through July 1, 2022.   
 
  Bidder’s Employee Relations to the State 
 
  No employee of the Midwest Assistance Program has been an employee of the State 
of Nebraska within the past ten years. 
 
  Bidder Performance 
 
  MAP has had no contract terminated for default, convenience, non-performance, non-
allocation of funds or any other reason in the past five years.  
 
  Summary of Bidder’s Corporate Experience 
 
 Three projects below describe MAP’s experience with projects similar in size, scope 
and complexity to the activity requested for this solicitation. 
 
  1)  MAP serviced a NDEQ contract with Nebraska to provide technical, financial 
and managerial technical assistance (TA) and training for Nebraska public water systems as the 
primary contractor (no subcontracting utilized).  The contract period started July 1, 2013 and 
ended June 30, 2015. MAP conducted Board and DMR trainings under this contract, as well as 
providing TA monthly to Systems referred by Nebraska Department of Health and Human 
Services.  per a list of Systems with noted compliance deficiencies.  MAP completed sixteen 
board trainings during this contract.  The trainings were a minimum of three hours in duration 
and provided  education, tools and resources on topics focused on creation of an Owner’s 
Manual (a MAP developed product), Financial Management and Reporting, Determining and 
Implementing Rates, Hiring an Engineer, Emergency Response Planning, Conducting Legal 
Meetings, Roles and Responsibilities of Utility Managers and Employees, Utility Management 
Practices, and Asset Management.  MAP took a team building approach to these trainings, by 
requesting attendance of board members, clerks, financial officers and operators.  These trainings 
were focused on a single board/council and were customized for that particular system.  The 
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award amount for this contract was $270,000.  Point of contact for this contract was Scott 
Sprague, NE DHHS.   
 
  2)  MAP currently services a grant through the Rural Community Assistance 
Partnership (RCAP) national partnership funded by USDA Rural Development (RD) as the 
primary contractor (no subcontracting utilized).  We have annually received this grant for over 
30 years, with current grant running from September 1, 2021 through August 31, 2022.  This 
grant focuses on providing TA and training to small rural communities, who are eligible USDA 
RD borrowers to develop, grow and sustain their managerial, financial and technical capacities in 
regards to drinking water and wastewater system operations and management.  One key aspect of 
this grant is providing training to drinking water and wastewater system utility managers.   These 
trainings are conducted in several formats with the focus to maximize participation and retention.  
Trainings are conducted virtually or in-person, and regionally or for single systems.  Single 
system trainings are customized to meet the specific needs of that system.  Training durations 
range from four to six hours and in some cases are conducted in multiple series.  Trainings may 
use material from USDA’s Workshop in a Box when desired, with the goal of training system 
managers, board members and operators on sustainable system management.  In addition to 
completing a Workshop in a Box training, MAP must make four systems that attended the 
training a project and provide TA that enhances the system’s ability to implement and utilize the 
education, tools and resources that was presented.  Topics of focus are Financial Management 
and Reporting, Determining and Implementing Rates, Hiring an Engineer, Emergency Response 
Planning, Conducting Legal Meetings, Roles and Responsibilities of Utility Managers and 
Employees, Utility Management Practices, Compliance Oversight, and Asset Management.  We 
conduct over 22 trainings annually with 200 plus attendees.  Participation and attendance of 
USDA RD staff is utilized when requested.  MAP’s award amount for this grant is $1,306,19.  
Point of contact for this contract in Nebraska is Kelley Messenger, Community Programs 
Director, NE USDA RD at 402 437-5559 / kelley.messenger@usda.gov.   
 
  3)  MAP Inc. services an EPA Drinking water grant as part of a national Rural 
Communities Assistance Partnership (RCAP) grant as the primary contractor (no subcontracting 
utilized).  We have been awarded EPA Drinking Water grants since 2014, with the current grant 
running from October 1, 2021 through March 30, 2023.   This grant focuses on the technical, 
financial and managerial capacity development to ensure compliance with the Safe Drinking 
Water Act (SDWA).  MAP’s training approach utilizes proven adult-education techniques and 
incorporates strategies that will increase knowledge retention. Building on the experience of 
previous awards and a history of innovation in providing training, the MAP team implements the 
following adult-education techniques: 1) targeted training based on primacy agency 
collaboration; 2) training that includes networking between participants and engagement with the 
content; 3) opportunities for follow-up technical assistance after training; 4) blended learning 
programs that combine self-paced eLearning and instructor-led learning; and 5) use of innovative 
training methods (eLearning, webinars, video, podcasts, etc.). MAP trainers utilize an extensive 
curriculum library and adapt materials developed by EPA and others as needed including EPA’s 
Partnership Training Toolbox and EPA/USDA’s Workshop in a Box to move small systems 
toward compliance and sustainability including encouraging water system partnerships. MAP 
develops and updates training materials as needed, to ensure relevant trainings. Trainings must 
be at least four hours in duration.  MAP’s award amount for this grant is $785,000.  The 
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Nebraska point of contact for this grant is NE DEE State Administrator for Drinking Water and 
Groundwater Division at 402-471-0510.  
 
  Summary of Bidder’s Proposed Personnel/Management Approach 
 
  MAP, Inc utilizes a multi-tiered structure to manage and execute programs to ensure 
quality control, oversight, and redundancy.  Consideration to hiring additional staff with 
pertinent skills and experience, if the work load and funding justify it.  Below is a table that 
provides current names, titles and roles/responsibilities for these personnel proposed to perform 
under this program.  Refer to Attachment C for resumes for all key personnel proposed to work 
on this program, for evaluation of experience and knowledge.   
  
NAME TITLE ROLES/RESPONSIBILITIES 
Chris Jewett Programs Director 1.  Overall responsibility for program 

management, staffing and execution 
2.  Overall contract administration 
3.  Primary POC for program concerns 
and contract amendments 
4. Provides overall guidance for 
program execution 
5.  Supervises Internal Programs 
Manager and Regional Field Manager 

Kerri Jewett Finance Director 1.  Responsible for invoicing 
2.  Responsible for bookkeeping and 
financial record keeping 
3.  Responsible for audit processes 
4.  Primary POC for financial and 
invoicing matters 

Jodi Hilsabeck Internal Programs Manager 1.  Responsible for tracking deliverables 
2.  Responsible for reviewing and 
submitting reports 
3.  Responsible for reviewing 
outputs/products and/or deliverables 
4.  Reports concerns/issues to Programs 
Director 
5.  Ensures program stays on course for 
completion of work plan and budget 
6.  Primary POC for reporting  

Ron Vanderpool 
Kelli Fika 

GIS Coordinator 
Assistant GIS Coordinator 

1.  Oversee and direct GIS Operations 
2.  Manage and maintain GIS 
Equipment 
3.  Manage and maintain GIS Data 
4.  Prepare and provide GIS training 

Jim Jones Training Coordinator 1.  Oversee training events 
2.  Assist with preparation and review 
training presentations 



Dennis Cru.rnll Regional Field Manager 

Maity Ostransky Technical Assistance Providers 
DeITick Luebbe 
Monte Kerchal 
Eric T eegerstrom 

SECTION II - Tenns and Conditions 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

A. GENERAL 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

3. Assist with trnining aide 
development 
4 . Review and track training records 
5. Develop and distribute trnining 
guidance 
1. Direct oversight for program 
execution 
2 . Ensures work plans are planned, 
implemented and maintained 
3. Ensures staff ru.·e trained and 
resourced 
4 . Ensures reporting is completed in a 
timely and accurate manner 
5. Primaiy POC for daily operations 
6. Maintains monthly communications 
with NE DEE staff 
7. Supervises Technical Assistance 
Providers 
1. Provides requested TA and trnining 
as assigned 
2 . Completes repo1iing in timely and 
accurate manner 
3. Provides refe1rnls as needed 
4 . Provides feedback on patterns and 
challenges identified in the field 
5. Makes recommendations for 
procedural changes 
6. Develops reference material 
7. Maintains regulru.· contact with 
aoorooriate NE DEE field staff 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

The Contract resulting from this solicitation shall inco1porate the following documents: 
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1. Request for Proposal and Addenda 
2. Amendments to the solicitation 
3. Questions and Answers 
4. Contrnctor 's proposal (Contractor 's response to the solicitation and properly 

submitted documents) 
5. Amendments and Addendums to the Contract. 

These documents constitute the entirety of the contrnct. 

Unless othe1w ise specifically stated in a future contract amendment, in case of any 
conflict between the incorporated documents, the documents shall govern in the following order 
of preference with number one (1) receiving preference over all other documents and with each 
lower numbered document having preference over any higher numbered document: 1) 
Amendments and addendums to the executed Contract with the most recent dated amendment or 
addendum, respectively, having the highest priority, 2) Amendments to solicitation 3) Questions 
and Answers, 4) the original solicitation document and any Addenda, and 5) the Contractor 's 
submitted Proposal. 

Any ambiguity or conflict in the contract discovered after its execution, not othe1w ise 
addressed herein, shall be resolved in accordance with the mles of contract inte1pretation as 
established in the State of Nebraska. 

B. NOTIFICATION 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Contractor and State shall identify the contract manager who shall serve as the point of 
contact for the executed contract. 

Collllllunications regarding the executed contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
to have been given if delivered personally, electronically or mailed. All notices, requests, or 
communications shall be deemed effective upon receipt. 

C . PCO'S REPRESENTATIVE 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 
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The State reserves the right to appoint a PCOs Representative to manage [ or assist the 
PCO in managing] the contract on behalf of the State. The PCP 's Representative will be 
appointed in writing, and the appointment document will specify the extent of the PCO's 
Representative authority and responsibilities . If a PCO's Representative is appointed, the 
Contractor will be provided a copy of the appointment document and is required to cooperate 
accordingly with the PCO's Representative. The PCO's Representative has no authority to bind 
the State to a contract, amendment, addendum, or other change or addition to the contract. 

D . GOVERNING LAW (Statuto1y) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this contract, or any amendment or addendum(s) 
entered into contemporaneously or at a later time, the paiiies understand and agree that, (1) the 
State of Nebraska is a sovereign state and its authority to contract is therefore subject to 
limitation by the State's Constitution, statutes, common law, and regulation; (2) this contract will 
be inte1preted and enforced under the laws of the State of Nebraska; (3) any action to enforce the 
provisions of this agreement must be brought in the State of Nebraska per state law; (4) the 
person signing this contract on behalf of the State of Nebraska does not have the authority to 
waive the State's sovereign immunity, statutes, common law, or regulations; (5) the indemnity, 
limitation of liability, remedy, and other similai· provisions of the final contract, if any, are 
entered into subject to the State's Constitution, statutes, common law, regulations, and sovereign 
immunity; and, ( 6) all te1ms and conditions of the final contract, including but not limited to the 
clauses concerning third paiiy use, licenses, wa1rnnties, limitations of liability, governing law 
and venue, usage verification, indemnity, liability, remedy or other similai· provisions of the final 
contract are entered into specifically subject to the State's Constitution, sta.tutes, common law, 
regulations, and sovereign immunity. 

The Pa1iies must comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances, 
mies, orders, and regulations. 

E. BEGINNING OF WORK 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 
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The awarded Bidder shall not commence any billable work until a valid contract has been 
fully executed by the State. The awarded Bidder will be notified when work may begin. 

F. AMENDMENT 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

This Contract may be amended only in writing, within scope, upon the agreement of both 
paities. 

G. PRICES 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Prices quoted shall be net, including transportation and delivery chai·ges fully prepaid by 
the contractor, F.O.B. destination named in the RFP. No additional chai·ges will be allowed for 
packing, packages, or pai·tial delive1y costs. When an arithmetic error has been made in the 
extended total, the unit price will govern. 

Prices submitted on the cost proposal fo1m shall remain fixed for the first year of the 
contract. Any request for a price increase subsequent to the first yeai· of the contract shall not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the previous Contract period. Increases will be cumulative across 
the remaining periods of the contract. Requests for an increase must be submitted in writing to 
the State Pm-chasing Bureau a minimum of 120 days. Documentation may be required by the 
State to suppo1t the price increase. 

The State reserves the right to deny any requested price increase. No price 
increases are to be billed to any State Agencies prior to written amendment of the contract 
by the parties. 

The State will be given full proportionate benefit of any decreases for the term of 
the contract. 
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H. CHANGE ORDERS OR SUBSTITUTIONS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The State and the Contractor, upon the written agreement, may make changes to the 
contract within the general scope of the solicitation. Changes may involve specifications, the 
quantity of work, or such other items as the State may find necessaiy or desirable. Conections 
of any deliverable, se1v ice, or work required pursuant to the contract shall not be deemed a 
change. The Contractor may not claim forfeiture of the contract by reasons of such changes. 

The Contractor shall prepai·e a written description of the work required due to the change 
and an itemized cost sheet for the change. Changes in work and the amount of compensation to 
be paid to the Contractor shall be detennined in accordance with applicable unit prices if any, a 
pro-rated value, or through negotiations. The State shall not incur a price increase for changes 
that should have been included in the Contractor 's proposal, were foreseeable, or result from 
difficulties with or failure of the Contractor 's proposal or perfonnance. 

No change shall be implemented by the Contractor until approved by the State, and the 
Contract is amended to reflect the change and associated costs, if any. If there is a dispute 
regai·ding the cost, but both paii ies agree that immediate implementation is necessary, the change 
may be implemented, and cost negotiations may continue with both Paities retaining all remedies 
under the contract and law. 

In the event any product is discontinued or replaced upon mutual consent during the 
contract period or prior to delivery, the State rese1ves the right to amend the contract to include 
the alternate product at the saine price. 

***Contractor will not substitute any item that has been awarded without prior 
written approval of SPB*** 

I. VENDOR PERFORMANCE REPORT(S) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The State may document any instance(s) of products or se1vices delivered or perfo1med 
which exceed or fail to meet the te1ms of the purchase order, contract, and/or solicitation 
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specifications. The State Purchasing Bureau may contact the Vendor regarding any such repo1t. 
Vendor peifonnance repo1t(s) will become a pait of the pennanent record of the Vendor. 

J. NOTICE OF POTENTIAL CONTRACTOR BREACH 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

If Contractor breaches the contract or anticipates breaching the contract, the Contractor 
shall immediately give written notice to the State. The notice shall explain the breach or 
potential breach, a proposed cure, and may include a request for a waiver of the breach if so 
desired. The State may, in its discretion, temporai·ily or pennanently waive the breach. By 
granting a waiver, the State does not forfeit any rights or remedies to which the State is entitled 
by law or equity, or pursuant to the provisions of the contract. Failure to give immediate notice, 
however, may be grounds for denial of any request for a waiver of a breach. 

K. BREACH 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Either Paity may terminate the contract, in whole or in pait, if the other Party breaches its 
duty to perfo1m its obligations under the contract in a timely and proper manner. Te1mination 
requires written notice of default and a thnty (30) calendai· day ( or longer at the non-breaching 
Paity's discretion considering the gravity and nature of the default) cure period. Said notice shall 
be delivered by Ce1tified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or in person with proof of delivery. In 
case of default of the Contractor, the State may contract the se1vice from other sources and hold 
the Contractor responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby. The State may recover from 
the Contractor as dainages the difference between the costs of covering the breach. 
Notwithstanding any clause to the contrai·y, the State may also recover the contract price together 
with any incidental or consequential damages defined in UCC Section 2-715, but less expenses 
saved in consequence of Contractor 's breach. 

The State's failure to make payment shall not be a breach, and the Contractor shall retain 
all available statutory remedies and protections, including, but not lnnited to, chai·ging interest to 
the State (Refer to Prompt Payment Act) . 

MAP, Inc. RFP dated May 24, 2022 to NE Solicitation 6691 91 Page 11 



L. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Allowing time to cure or the acceptance of late perfo1mance with or without objection or 
reservation by a Party shall not waive any rights of the Party, including, but not limited to the 
right to immediate tenninate the contract for the same or a different breach, or constitute a 
waiver of the requirement of timely perfonnance of any obligations remaining to be perfo1med. 

M. SEVERABILITY 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

If any te1m or condition of the contract is declared by a comt of competent jurisdiction to 
be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining te1ms and conditions shall not 
be affected, and the rights and obligations of the patties shall be construed and enforced as if the 
contract did not contain the provision held to be invalid or illegal. 

N . INDEMNIFICATION 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

1. GENERAL 

The Conti·actor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold hatmless the State and its 
employees, volunteers, agents, and its elected and appointed officials ("the indemnified patties") 
from and against any and all third patty claims, liens, demands, damages, liability, actions, 
causes of action, losses, judgments, costs, and expenses of eve1y nature, including investigation 
costs and expenses, settlement costs, and attorney fees and expenses ("the claims"), sustained or 
asse1ted against the State for personal injury, death, or prope1ty loss or damage, at·ising out of, 
resulting from, or attributable to the willful misconduct, negligence, eITor, or omission of the 

MAP, Inc. RFP dated May 24, 2022 to NE Solicitation 6691 91 Page 12 



Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, consultants, representatives, and agents, resulting 
from this contract, except to the extent such Contractor liability is attenuated by any action of the 
State which directly and proximately contributed to the claims. 

2. PERSONNEL 

The Contrnctor shall, at its expense, indemnify and hold hannless the indemnified paiiies 
from and against any claim with respect to withholding taxes, worker's compensation, employee 
benefits, or any other claim, demand, liability, damage, or loss of any nature relating to any of 
the personnel, including subcontrnctors and employees, provided by the Contrnctor. 

3. SELF-INSURANCE 

The State of Nebraska is self-insured for any loss and purchases excess insurance 
coverage pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat.§ 81-8,239.01 (Reissue 2008). If there is a presumed loss 
under the provisions of this agreement, Contractor may file a claim with the Office of Risk 
Management pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat.§§ 81-8,829 - 81-8,306 for review by the State Claims 
Boai·d. The State retains all rights and immunities under the State Miscellaneous (§81-8,294), 
To1i (§81-8,209), and Contract Claim Acts (§81-8,302), as outlined in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-8,209 
et seq. and under any other provisions of law and accepts liability under this agreement to the 
extent provided by law. 

4. The Paiiies acknowledge that Attorney General for the State of Nebraska is required 
by statute to represent the legal interests of the State, and that any provision of this indemnity 
clause is subject to the statuto1y authority of the Attorney General. 

0 . ATTORNEY'S FEES 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

In the event of any litigation, appeal, or other legal action to enforce any provision of the 
contract, the Pa1iies agree to pay all expenses of such action, as pe1m itted by law and if ordered 
by the comi, including attorney's fees and costs, if the other Pa1iy prevails. 
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P. ASSIGNMENT, SALE, OR MERGER 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Either Paiiy may assign the contract upon mutual written agreement of the other Pa1iy. 
Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

The Contractor retains the right to enter into a sale, merger, acquisition, internal 
reorganization, or similar transaction involving Contractor 's business. Contractor agrees to 
cooperate with the State in executing amendments to the contract to allow for the transaction. If 
a third party or entity is involved in the transaction, the Contractor will remain responsible for 
peifonnance of the contract until such time as the person or entity involved in the transaction 
agrees in writing to be contractually bound by this contract and perfo1m all obligations of the 
contract. 

Q. CONTRACTING WITH OTHER NEBRASKA POLITICAL SUB-DIVISIONS OF THE 
STA TE OR ANOTHER STATE 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

The Contractor may, but shall not be required to, allow agencies, as defined in Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §81-145, to use this contract. The tenns and conditions, including price, of the contract 
may not be amended. The State shall not be contractually obligated or liable for any contract 
entered into pursuant to this clause. A listing of Nebraska political subdivisions may be found at 
the website of the Nebraska Auditor of Public Accounts. 

The Contractor may, but shall not be required to, allow other states, agencies or divisions 
of other states, or political subdivisions of other states to use this contract. The te1ms and 
conditions, including price, of this contract shall apply to any such contract, but may be amended 
upon mutual consent of the Pa1iies. The State of Nebraska shall not be contractually or 
othe1wise obligated or liable under any contract entered into pursuant to this clause. The State 
shall be notified if a contract is executed based upon this contract. 

MAP, Inc. RFP dated May 24, 2022 to NE Solicitation 6691 91 Page 14 



R. FORCE MAJEURE 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Neither Paiiy shall be liable for any costs or damages, or for default resulting from its 
inability to perfo1m any of its obligations under the contract due to a natural or manmade event 
outside the control and not the fault of the affected Paiiy ("Force Majeure Event") . The Paiiy so 
affected shall immediately make a written request for relief to the other Pa1iy and shall have the 
burden of proof to justify the request. The other Paiiy may grant the relief requested; relief may 
not be unreasonably withheld. Labor disputes with the impacted Pa1iy's own employees will not 
be considered a Force Majeure Event. 

S. CONFIDENTIALITY 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

All materials and info1mation provided by the Parties or acquired by a Paiiy on behalf of 
the other Paity shall be regarded as confidential infonnation. All materials and info1mation 
provided or acquired shall be handled in accordance with federal and state law, and ethical 
standards. Should said confidentiality be breached by a Pa1iy, the Pa1iy shall notify the other 
Paiiy immediately of said breach and take immediate con ective action. 

It is incumbent upon the Paities to info1m officers and employees of the penalties for 
improper disclosure imposed by the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a. Specifically, 5 U.S .C. 
552a (i)(l), which is made applicable by 5 U.S.C. 552a (m)(l ), provides that any officer or 
employee, who by viiiue of his/her employment or official position has possession of or access 
to agency records which contain individually identifiable infonnation, the disclosure of which is 
prohibited by the Privacy Act or regulations established thereunder, and who knowing that 
disclosure of the specific material is prohibited, willfully discloses the material in any manner to 
any person or agency not entitled to receive it, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and fined not 
more than $5,000. 

MAP, Inc. RFP dated May 24, 2022 to NE Solicitation 6691 91 Page 15 



T. EARLYTERMINATION 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The contract may be te1minated as follows: 

1. The State and the Contractor, by mutual written agreement, may te1minate the 
contract at any time. 

2. The State, in its sole discretion, may tenninate the contract for any reason upon 30 
calendar day's written notice to the Contractor. Such te1mination shall not relieve the 
Contractor of wananty or other se1vice obligations incmTed under the te1ms of the contract. In 
the event of tennination, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment, detennined on a pro rata 
basis, for products or services satisfactorily perfonned or provided. 

3. The State may te1minate the contract immediately for the following reasons: 

a. if directed to do so by statute 
b. Contractor has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, has admitted in 

writing its inability to pay debts as they mature, or has ceased operating in the nonnal comse of 
business 

c. a trustee or receiver of the Conti·actor or of any substantial pali of the 
Conti·actor ' s assets has been appointed by a comi 

d. fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement, malfeasance, misfeasance, or illegal 
conduct pe1iaining to perfo1mance under the contract by its Conti·actor, its employees, officers, 
directors, or shareholders 

e. an involuntaiy proceeding has been commenced by any Party against the 
Conti·actor under any one of the chapters of Title 11 of the United States Code and (i) the 
proceeding has been pending for at least 60 calendai· days; or (ii) the Conti·actor has consented, 
either expressly or by operation of law, to the entiy of an order for relief; or (iii) the Conti·actor 
has been decreed or adjudged a debtor 

f. a voluntaiy petition has been filed by the Contractor under any of the chapters 
of Title 11 of the United States Code 

g. Conti·actor intentionally discloses confidential info1mation 
h. Conti·actor has or announces it will discontinue suppo1i of the deliverable 
i. In the event funding is no longer available. 
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U. CONTRACT CLOSEOUT 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Upon contract closeout for any reason the Contractor shall within 30 days, unless stated 
othe1wise herein: 

1. Transfer all completed or paiiially completed deliverables to the State 
2. Transfer ownership and title to all completed or paiiially completed deliverables 

to the State 
3. Return to the State all info1mation and data, unless the Contractor is pe1mitted to 

keep the info1mation or data by contract or rnle of law. Contractor may retain one copy of any 
info1mation or data as required to comply with applicable work product documentation standai·ds 
or as ai·e automatically retained in the course of Contractor's routine back up procedures 

4. Cooperate with any successor Contactor, person or entity in the assumption of 
any or all of the obligations of this contract 

5. Cooperate with any successor Contactor, person or entity with the transfer of 
info1mation or data related to this contract 

6. Return or vacate any state owned real or personal prope1iy 
7. Return all data. in a mutually acceptable fo1mat and manner. 

Nothing in this Section should be constrned to require the Contractor to smTender 
intellectual prope1iy, real or personal prope1iy, or info1mation or data owned by the Contractor 
for which the State has no legal claim. 

SECTION III - CONTRACTOR DUTIES 

A. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR I OBLIGATIONS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

It is agreed that the Contractor is an independent contractor and that nothing contained 
herein is intended or should be constrned as creating or establishing a relationship of 
employment, agency, or a paiinership. 
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 The Contractor is solely responsible for fulfilling the contract.  The Contractor or the 
Contractor’s representative shall be the sole point of contact regarding all contractual matters. 
 
 The Contractor shall secure, at its own expense, all personnel required to perform the 
services under the contract.  The personnel the Contractor uses to fulfill the contract shall have 
no contractual or other legal relationship with the State; they shall not be considered employees 
of the State and shall not be entitled to any compensation, rights or benefits from the State, 
including but not limited to, tenure rights, medical and hospital care, sick and vacation leave, 
severance pay, or retirement benefits. 
 
 By-name personnel commitments made in the Contractor's proposal shall not be changed 
without the prior written approval of the State.  Replacement of these personnel, if approved by 
the State, shall be with personnel of equal or greater ability and qualifications. 
 
 All personnel assigned by the Contractor to the contract shall be employees of the 
Contractor or a subcontractor and shall be fully qualified to perform the work required herein.  
Personnel employed by the Contractor or a subcontractor to fulfill the terms of the contract shall 
remain under the sole direction and control of the Contractor or the subcontractor respectively. 
 
 With respect to its employees, the Contractor agrees to be solely responsible for the 
following: 
 
 1.  Any and all pay, benefits, and employment taxes and/or other payroll withholding 
 2.  Any and all vehicles used by the Contractor’s employees, including all insurance 
required by state law  
 3.  Damages incurred by Contractor’s employees within the scope of duties under the 
contract  
 4.  Maintaining Workers’ Compensation and health insurance that complies with 
state and federal law and submitting any reports on such insurance to the extent required by 
governing law 
 5.  Determining the hours to be worked and the duties to be performed by the 
Contractor’s employees 
 6.  All claims on behalf of any person arising out of employment or alleged 
employment (including without limit claims of discrimination alleged against the Contractor, its 
officers, agents, or subcontractors or subcontractor’s employees) 
 
 If the Contractor intends to utilize any subcontractor, the subcontractor's level of effort, 
tasks, and time allocation should be clearly defined in the contractor’s proposal. The Contractor 
shall agree that it will not utilize any subcontractors not specifically included in its proposal in 
the performance of the contract without the prior written authorization of the State. 
 
 The State reserves the right to require the Contractor to reassign or remove from the 
project any Contractor or subcontractor’s employees. 
 
 Contractor shall insure that the terms and conditions contained in any contract with a 
subcontractor does not conflict with the terms and conditions of this contract.  



The Contrnctor shall include a similar provision, for the protection of the State, in the 
contract with any subcontractor engaged to peif orm work on this contract. 

B. EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contrnctor is required and hereby agrees to use a federal immigration verification 
system to detennine the work eligibility status of employees physically perfonning se1vices 
within the State of Nebraska. A federal immigration verification system means the electronic 
verification of the work authorization program authorized by the Illegal Immigration Refo1m and 
Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the £-Verify Program, or an 
equivalent federal program designated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or 
other federal agency authorized to verify the work eligibility status of an employee. 

If the Contractor is an individual or sole proprietorship, the following applies: 

1. The Contractor must complete the United States Citizenship Attestation Fonn, 
available on the Department of Administrative Se1vices website at 
http:// das .nebraska. gov/materiel/purchasing.html 

2. The completed United States Attestation Fonn should be submitted with the 
solicitation response. 

3. If the Contractor indicates on such attestation fo1m that he or she is a qualified 
alien, the Contractor agrees to provide the US Citizenship and Immigration Se1vices 
documentation required to verify the Contractor's lawful presence in the United States using the 
Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SA VE) Program. 

4. The Contractor understands and agrees that lawful presence in the United States 
is required, and the Contractor may be disqualified, or the contract te1minated if such lawful 
presence cannot be verified as required by Neb. Rev. Stat. §4-108. 
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C. COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 
EMPLOYMENT I NONDISCRIMINATION (Statutory) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

The Contrnctor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal statutes and 
regulations regarding civil rights laws and equal opportunity employment. The Nebraska Fair 
Employment Practice Act prohibits Contrnctors of the State of Nebraska, and their 
subcontractors, from discriminating against any employee or applicant for employment, with 
respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, compensation, or privileges of employment because of 
race, color, religion, sex, disability, marital status, or national origin (Neb. Rev. Stat.§§ 48-1101 
to 48-1125). The Contractor guarantees compliance with the Nebraska Fair Employment 
Practice Act, and breach of this provision shall be regarded as a material breach of contrnct. The 
Contractor shall inse1t a similar provision in all subcontracts for goods and services to be 
covered by any contract resulting from this solicitation. 

D. COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Contractor may be required to work with or in close proximity to other contractors or 
individuals that may be working on same or different projects. The Contractor shall agree to 
cooperate with such other contractors or individuals, and shall not commit or pennit any act 
which may interfere with the perfonnance of work by any other contractor or individual. 
Contractor is not required to compromise Contractor 's intellectual prope1ty or proprietaiy 
infonnation unless expressly required to do so by this contrnct. 

E. PERMITS, REGULATIONS, LAWS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 
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The contract price shall include the cost of all royalties, licenses, pennits, and approvals, 
whether arising from patents, trndemarks, copyrights or othe1w ise, that are in any way involved 
in the contract. The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all royalties, licenses, and permits, and 
approvals necessa1y for the execution of the contract. The Contractor must guarantee that it has 
the full legal right to the materials, supplies, equipment, software, and other items used to 
execute this contract. 

F. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION AND DATA I DELIVERABLES 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The State shall have the unlimited right to publish, duplicate, use, and disclose all 
infonnation and data developed or obtained by the Contractor on behalf of the State pursuant to 
this contract. 

G. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contractor shall throughout the te1m of the contract maintain insurance as specified 
herein and provide the State a cmTent Certificate of Insurance/Acord Fo1m (COI) verifying the 
coverage. The Contractor shall not commence work on the contract until the insurance is in 
place. If Contractor subcontracts any po1i ion of the Contract the Contractor must, throughout the 
tenn of the contract, either: 

1. Provide equivalent insurance for each subcontractor and provide a COI verifying 
the coverage for the subcontractor 

2. Require each subcontractor to have equivalent insurance and provide written 
notice to the State that the Contractor has verified that each subcontractor has the required 
coverage 

3. Provide the State with copies of each subcontractor 's Ce1i ificate of Insurance 
evidencing the required coverage. 

The Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work until the 
subcontractor has equivalent insurance. The failure of the State to require a COI, or the failure 
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of the Contractor to provide a COI or require subcontractor insurance shall not limit, relieve, or 
decrease the liability of the Contractor hereunder. 
 
 If by the terms of any insurance a mandatory deductible is required, or if the Contractor 
elects to increase the mandatory deductible amount, the Contractor shall be responsible for 
payment of the amount of the deductible in the event of a paid claim. 
 
 Notwithstanding any other clause in this Contract, the State may recover up to the 
liability limits of the insurance policies required herein. 
 
  4.  WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE 
 
 The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract the 
statutory Workers’ Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the contactors’ 
employees to be engaged in work on the project under this contract and, in case any such work is 
sublet, the Contractor shall require the subcontractor similarly to provide Worker's 
Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the subcontractor’s employees to be 
engaged in such work.  This policy shall be written to meet the statutory requirements for the 
state in which the work is to be performed, including Occupational Disease.  The policy shall 
include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the State.  The COI shall contain the mandatory COI 
subrogation waiver language found hereinafter.  The amounts of such insurance shall not be less 
than the limits stated hereinafter.  For employees working in the State of Nebraska, the policy 
must be written by an entity authorized by the State of Nebraska Department of Insurance to 
write Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance for Nebraska employees. 
 
      5.  COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE AND COMMERCIAL 
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE 
 
 The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract such 
Commercial General Liability Insurance and Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance as 
shall protect Contractor and any subcontractor performing work covered by this contract from 
claims for damages for bodily injury, including death, as well as from claims for property 
damage, which may arise from operations under this contract, whether such operation be by the 
Contractor or by any subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of 
them, and the amounts of such insurance shall not be less than limits stated hereinafter. 
 
 The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be written on an occurrence 
basis, and provide Premises/Operations, Products/Completed Operations, Independent 
Contractors, Personal Injury, and Contractual Liability coverage.  The policy shall include the 
State, and others as required by the contract documents, as Additional Insured(s).  This policy 
shall be primary, and any insurance or self-insurance carried by the State shall be considered 
secondary and non-contributory.  The COI shall contain the mandatory COI liability waiver 
language found hereinafter. The Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written to 
cover all Owned, Non-owned, and Hired vehicles. 
 
 



REQUIRED INSURANCE COVERAGE 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 
General Aggregate $2,000,000 
Products/Completed Operations $2,000,000 
Aggregate 
Personal/ Adve1tising fuiury $1,000,000 per occunence 
Bodily fujury/Prope1ty Damage $1,000,000 per occunence 
Medical Payments $10,000 any one person 
Damage to Rented Premises (Fire) $300,000 each occunence 
Contractual fucluded 
fudependent Contractors fucluded 

if higher limits are required, the Umbrella/Excess Liability limits are allowed to satisfy the 
hif!her limit. 
WORKER'S COMPENSATION 
Emolovers Liabilitv Limits $500K/$500K/$500K 
Statutory Limits- All States Statutory - State of Nebraska 
USL&H Endorsement Statutory 
Voluntary Compensation Statutory 
COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 
Bodily fuiury/Prope1ty Damage $1,000,000 combined single limit 
fuclude All Owned, Hired & Non-Owned fucluded 
Automobile liability 
UMBRELLA/EXCESS LIABILITY 
Over Primary fusurance $5,000,000 per occunence 
PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY 
All Other Professional Liability (Errors & $1,000,000 Per Claim / Aggregate 
Omissions) 
COMMERCIAL CRIME 
Crime/Employee Dishonesty fucluding $1,000,000 
3rd Paitv Fidelitv 
CYBER LIABILITY 
Breach of Privacy, Security Breach, $1,000,000 
Denial of Service, Remediation, Fines and 
Penalties 
MANDATORY COi SUBROGATION WAIVER LANGUAGE 
"Workers' Compensation policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the 
State of Nebraska." 
MANDATORY COi LIABILITY WAIVER LANGUAGE 
"Commercial General Liability & Commercial Automobile Liability policies shall 
name the State of Nebraska as an Additional fusured and the policies shall be primary 
and any insurance or self-insurance caITied by the State shall be considered secondaiy 
and non-contributory as additionally insured." 

6. EVIDENCE OF COVERAGE 
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The Contrnctor shall furnish the Contract Manager, with a ce1iificate of insurance 
coverage complying with the above requirements prior to beginning work at: 

Agency Name: State Purchasing Bureau 
Attn: Annette Walton 
Solicitation Number: 6691 Zl 
Contract Number: 
E-mail address: annette.walton@nebraska.gov 

These ce1iificates or the cover sheet shall reference the RFP number, and the 
ce1iificates shall include the name of the company, policy numbers, effective dates, dates of 
expiration, and amounts and types of coverage afforded. If the State is damaged by the failure of 
the Contractor to maintain such insurance, then the Contractor shall be responsible for all 
reasonable costs properly attributable thereto. 

Reasonable notice of cancellation of any required insurance policy must be 
submitted to the contract manager as listed above when issued and a new coverage binder shall 
be submitted immediately to ensure no break in coverage. 

7. DEVIATIONS 

The insurance requirements are subject to limited negotiation. Negotiation 
typically includes, but is not necessarily limited to, the co1Tect type of coverage, necessity for 
Workers ' Compensation, and the type of automobile coverage caITied by the Contractor. 

H. ANTITRUST 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contractor hereby assigns to the State any and all claims for overcharges as to goods 
and/or services provided in connection with this contract resulting from antitrnst violations 
which arise under antitrust laws of the United States and the antitrust laws of the State. 

I. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 
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By submitting a proposal, bidder certifies that no relationship exists between the bidder 
and any person or entity which either is, or gives the appearance of, a conflict of interest related 
to this request for proposal or project. 

Bidder further ce1i ifies that bidder will not employ any individual known by bidder to 
have a conflict of interest nor shall bidder take any action or acquire any interest, either directly 
or indirectly, which will conflict in any manner or degree with the perfo1mance of its contractual 
obligations hereunder or which creates an actual or appearance of conflict of interest. 

If there is an actual or perceived conflict of interest, bidder shall provide with its proposal 
a foll disclosure of the facts describing such actual or perceived conflict of interest and a 
proposed mitigation plan for consideration. The State will then consider such disclosure and 
proposed mitigation plan and either approve or reject as part of the overall bid evaluation. 

J. STATE PROPERTY 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and custody of any State-owned 
prope1iy which is furnished for the Contractor's use during the perfonnance of the contract. The 
Contractor shall reimburse the State for any loss or damage of such property; nonnal wear and 
tear is expected. 

K. SITE RULES AND REGULATIONS 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

The Contractor shall use its best effo1is to ensure that its employees, agents, and 
subcontractors comply with site rnles and regulations while on State premises. If the Contractor 
must perfo1m on-site work outside of the daily operational hours set fo1i h by the State, it must 
make arrangements with the State to ensure access to the facility and the equipment has been 
aITanged. No additional payment will be made by the State on the basis of lack of access, unless 
the State fails to provide access as agreed to in writing between the State and the Contractor. 
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L. ADVERTISING 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contrnctor agrees not to refer to the contract award in adve1iising in such a manner 
as to state or imply that the company or its goods or services are endorsed or prefen ed by the 
State. Any publicity releases peliaining to the project shall not be issued without prior written 
approval from the State. 

M. DISASTER RECOVERY/BACK UP PLAN 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contractor shall have a disaster recovery and back-up plan, of which a copy should 
be provided upon request to the State, which includes, but is not limited to equipment, personnel, 
facilities, and transpo1iation, in order to continue delive1y of goods and services as specified 
under the specifications in the contract in the event of a disaster. 

N . DRUG POLICY 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Contractor ce1iifies it maintains a diug free workplace environment to ensm e worker 
safety and workplace integrity. Contractor agrees to provide a copy of its diug free workplace 
policy at any time upon request by the State. 
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0 . WARRANTY 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Despite any clause to the contnuy , the Contractor represents and waiTants that its se1v ices 
hereunder shall be perfonned by competent personnel and shall be of professional quality 
consistent with generally accepted industry standards for the perfo1mance of such se1v ices and 
shall comply in all respects with the requirements of this Agreement. For any breach of this 
waiTanty, the Conti-actor shall, for a period of 90 days from perfo1mance of the se1v ice, perfo1m 
the se1v ices again, at no cost to the State, or if Conti·actor is unable to perfo1m the se1v ices as 
waiTanted, Conti·actor shall reimbmse the State all fees paid to ContI'actor for the unsatisfacto1y 
se1v ices. The rights and remedies of the paities under this waiTanty ai·e in addition to any other 
rights and remedies of the pait ies provided by law or equity, including, without limitation actual 
damages, and, as applicable and awarded under the law, to a prevailing paity, reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs. 

SECTION IV - PAYMENT 

A. PROHIBITION AGAINST ADVANCE PAYMENT (Statutory) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 81-2403 states, " [n]o goods or se1v ices shall be deemed to be received 
by an agency until all such goods or se1v ices are completely delivered and finally accepted by 
the agency." 

B. TAXES (Statutory) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 
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The State is not required to pay taxes and assumes no such liability as a result of this 
solicitation . The Contractor may request a copy of the Nebraska Department of Revenue, 
Nebraska Resale or Exempt Sale Certificate for Sales Tax Exemption, Fo1m 13. Any property 
tax payable on the Contractor's equipment which may be installed in a state-owned facility is the 
responsibility of the Contractor. 

C. INVOICES 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Invoices for payments must be submitted by the Contractor to the agency requesting the 
services with sufficient detail to suppo1i payment. 

Payment to contractor will be made as follows: 90% after each individual training or 
regional workshop with the remaining 10% made after all complete follow-up surveys are 
submitted to NDEE. 

1. Board/owner training and regional workshops initial invoice for the 90%: 

a. The contractor shall submit a repo1i and invoice no later than ten business 
days following each training or workshop to include: 

(1) The individual name(s) of the contractor(s) providing assistance; The 
names of each individual that pa1iicipated, including operator license number (if applicable) and 
the System name and identification number (NE3 1:XXXXX) 
each individual represented 

(2) The date, location, start and end times of the individual training or 
workshop. 

b. The contractor shall submit the following documentation for each workshop: 

(1) Survey from each individual in attendance 
(2) Agenda 
(3) List of materials and/or resources provided to each System 
(4) Written recommendation/request for additional assistance. 

2. Board/owner training and regional workshops final invoice for remaining 10%: 

The contractor shall submit an invoice for the remainder of contracted payment 
following completion of follow-up smv eys for each individual board training, and completion of 
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follow-up surveys with each System that attended a regional workshop. Submittal of all follow­
up surveys must be made with the invoice. Other items to include: 

(1) The System name and identification number (NE31:XXXXX) 
(2) The date and location of training or workshop pertaining to the follow-up 

surveys. 

The tenns and conditions included in the Contractor 's invoice shall be deemed to be 
solely for the convenience of the parties. No tenns or conditions of any such invoice shall be 
binding upon the State, and no action by the State, including without limitation the payment of 
any such invoice in whole or in pa.ii, shall be constmed as binding or estopping the State with 
respect to any such tenn or condition, unless the invoice te1m or condition has been previously 
agreed to by the State as an amendment to the contract. 

D. INSPECTION AND APPROVAL 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

Final inspection and approval of all work required under the contract shall be perfo1med 
by the designated State officials. 

The State and/or its authorized representatives shall have the right to enter any premises 
where the Contractor or subcontractor duties under the contract are being perfo1med, and to 
inspect, monitor or othe1wise evaluate the work being perfo1med. All inspections and 
evaluations shall be at agreed upon times and in a manner that will not delay work. 

E. PAYMENT (Statuto1y) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

Payment will be made by the responsible agency in compliance with the State of 
Nebraska Prompt Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat.§ 81-2403). The State may require the 
Contractor to accept payment by electronic means such as ACH deposit. In no event shall the 
State be responsible or liable to pay for any goods and se1v ices provided by the Contractor prior 
to the Effective Date of the contract, and the Contractor hereby waives any claim or cause of 
action for any such se1v ices. 
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F. LATE PAYMENT (Statuto1y) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The Contractor may charge the responsible agency interest for late payment in 
compliance with the State of Nebraska Prompt Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat.§§ 81-2401 
through 81-2408). 

G. SUBJECT TO FUNDING I FUNDING OUT CLAUSE FOR LOSS OF 
APPROPRIATIONS (Statuto1y) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) 
(Initial) 

The State's obligation to pay amounts due on the Contract for a fiscal years following the 
cmTent fiscal year is contingent upon legislative appropriation of funds. Should said funds not 
be appropriated, the State may tenninate the contract with respect to those payments for the 
fiscal year(s) for which such funds are not appropriated. The State will give the Contractor 
written notice 30 calendar days prior to the effective date of tennination. All obligations of the 
State to make payments after the tennination date will cease. The Contractor shall be entitled to 
receive just and equitable compensation for any authorized work which has been satisfactorily 
completed as of the tennination date. In no event shall the Contractor be paid for a loss of 
anticipated profit. 

H. RIGHT TO AUDIT (First Paragraph is Statuto1y) 

Accept Reject 
Reject & Provide Alternative 
within Solicitation Response NOTES/COMMENTS: 

(Initial) (Initial) (Initial) 

The State shall have the right to audit the Contractor 's perfo1mance of this contract upon 
a 30 days' written notice. Contractor shall utilize generally accepted accounting principles, and 
shall maintain the accounting records, and other records and info1mation relevant to the contract 
to enable the State to audit the contract. (Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-304 et seq.) The State may audit, 
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and the Contractor shall maintain, the Information during the term of the contract and for a 
period of five (5) years after the completion of this contract or until all issues or litigation are 
resolved, whichever is later.  The Contractor shall make the Information available to the State at 
Contractor’s place of business or a location acceptable to both Parties during normal business 
hours.  If this is not practical or the Contractor so elects, the Contractor may provide electronic 
or paper copies of the Information.  The State reserves the right to examine, make copies of, and 
take notes on any Information relevant to this contract, regardless of the form or the Information, 
how it is stored, or who possesses the Information.  Under no circumstance will the Contractor 
be required to create or maintain documents not kept in the ordinary course of contractor’s 
business operations, nor will contractor be required to disclose any information, including but 
not limited to product cost data, which is confidential or proprietary to contractor. 
 
 The Parties shall pay their own costs of the audit unless the audit finds a previously 
undisclosed overpayment by the State.  If a previously undisclosed overpayment exceeds one 
percent (1%) of the total contract billings, or if fraud, material misrepresentations, or non-
performance is discovered on the part of the Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the State 
for the total costs of the audit.  Overpayments and audit costs owed to the State shall be paid 
within 90 days of written notice of the claim.  The Contractor agrees to correct any material 
weaknesses or condition found as a result of the audit. 
 



ATTACHMENT A 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES FORM 

Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. RFP 
for 

Nebraska Solicitation Number 6691 21 

BIDDER MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 
By signing this Request for Proposal for Contractual Services form, the bidder guarantees compliance 
with the procedures stated in this Solicitation and agrees to the terms and conditions unless otherwise 
indicated in writing and certifies that bidder maintains a drug free workplace. 

Per Nebraska's Transparency in Government Procurement Act, Neb. Rev Stat§ 73-603 DAS is required to 
collect statistical information regarding the number of contracts awarded to Nebraska Contractors. This 

' 

iation is for statistical purposes only and will not be considered for contract award purposes. 

NEBRASKA CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT: Bidder hereby attests that bidder is a Nebraska Contractor. 
N aska Contractor" shall mean any bidder who has maintained a bona fide place of business and at least 

one employee within this state for at least the six (6) months immediately preceding the posting date of this 
Solicitation. 

__ I hereby certify that I am a Resident disabled veteran or business located in a designated enterprise 
zone in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 73-107 and wish to have preference, if applicable, considered in 
the award of this contract. 

_ _ I hereby certify that I am a blind person licensed by the Commission for the Blind & Visually Impaired 
in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 71-8611 and wish to have preference considered in the award of this 
contract. 

FORM MUST BE SIGNED USING INK OR VIA DOCUSIGN 

FIRM: 

COMPLETE ADDRESS: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 

DATE: 

SIGNATURE: 

TYPED NAME & TITLE OF 
SIGNER: 

Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

309 East Summit Drive 
Ma vi lle, MO 64468 
660-562-2575 

ER D. JEWETT 
MS DIRECTOR 

MAP, Inc. Proposal for NE Solicitation 6690 Z1 A-1 



MAP, Inc. Proposal for NE Solicitation 6690 Z1     B-1 

ATTACHMENT B 
Form A 

Contact Information  
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. RFP 

for 
Nebraska Solicitation Number 6691 Z1 

 
Form A should be completed and submitted with each response to this solicitation.  This is intended to provide the 
State with information on the bidder’s name and address, and the specific person(s) who are responsible for preparation 
of the bidder’s response.   
 
Preparation of Response Contact Information 
Bidder Name: Midwest Assistance Program 

Bidder Address: 

 
309 East Summit Drive 
Maryville, MO  64468 
 

Contact Person & Title: Christopher D. Jewett, Programs Director 

E-mail Address: cjewett@map-inc.org 

Telephone Number (Office): 660-562-2775 

Telephone Number (Cellular): 641-799-8532 
 
Each bidder should also designate a specific contact person who will be responsible for responding to the State if any 
clarifications of the bidder’s response should become necessary.  This will also be the person who the State contacts 
to set up a presentation/demonstration, if required. 
 
Communication with the State Contact Information 
Bidder Name: Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

Bidder Address: 309 East Summit Drive 
Maryville, MO  64468 

Contact Person & Title: Christopher D. Jewett 

E-mail Address: cjewett@map-inc.org 

Telephone Number (Office): 660-562-2575 

Telephone Number (Cellular): 641-799-8532 
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ATTCHMENT C 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. RFP Staff Resumes 

for  
Nebraska Solicitation Number 6691 Z1 

 
NAME TITLE ROLES/RESPONSIBILITIES 
Chris Jewett Programs Director 1.  Overall responsibility for program 

management, staffing and execution 
2.  Overall contract administration 
3.  Primary POC for program concerns and 
contract amendments 
4. Provides overall guidance for program 
execution 
5.  Supervises Internal Programs Manager and 
Regional Field Manager 

Kerri Jewett Finance Director 1.  Responsible for invoicing 
2.  Responsible for bookkeeping and financial 
record keeping 
3.  Responsible for audit processes 
4.  Primary POC for financial and invoicing 
matters 

Jodi Hilsabeck Internal Programs Manager 1.  Responsible for tracking deliverables 
2.  Responsible for reviewing and submitting 
reports 
3.  Responsible for reviewing outputs/products 
and/or deliverables 
4.  Reports concerns/issues to Programs Director 
5.  Ensures program stays on course for 
completion of work plan and budget 
6.  Primary POC for reporting  

Ron Vanderpool 
Kelli Fika 

GIS Coordinator 
Assistant GIS Coordinator 

1.  Oversee and direct GIS Operations 
2.  Manage and maintain GIS Equipment 
3.  Manage and maintain GIS Data 
4.  Prepare and provide GIS training 

Jim Jones Training Coordinator 1.  Oversee training events 
2.  Assist with preparation and review training 
presentations 
3.  Assist with training aide development 
4.  Review and track training records 
5.  Develop and distribute training guidance 

Dennis Carroll Regional Field Manager 1.  Direct oversight for program execution  
2.  Ensures work plans are planned, 
implemented and maintained 
3.  Ensures staff are trained and resourced 
4.  Ensures reporting is completed in a timely 
and accurate manner 
5.  Primary POC for daily operations 
6.  Maintains monthly communications with NE 
DEE staff 
7.  Supervises Technical Assistance Providers 

Marty Ostransky 
Derrick Luebbe 
Monte Kerchal 
Eric Teegerstrom 

Technical Assistance Providers 1.  Provides requested TA and training as 
assigned 
2.  Completes reporting in timely and accurate 
manner 
3.  Provides referrals as needed 
4.  Provides feedback on patterns and challenges 
identified in the field 
5.  Makes recommendations for procedural 
changes 
6.  Develops reference material 
7.  Maintains regular contact with appropriate 
NE DEE field staff 
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ATTACHMENT D - MAP TRAINING DOCUMENTS (EXAMPLES 
to 

MAP, INC. RFP BOARD/OWNER TRAINING/WORKSHOPS 
for 

NEBRASKA SOLICITATION 6691 Zl 

The following MAP training document examples follow: 

1. Training Checklist 
2. Training Sign-In Roster 
3. Training Tips and Tricks 
4. Board Training Agenda 
5. Board Training Agenda 
6. Board Training Agenda 
7. Board Training Agenda 
8. Training Evaluation 
9. Asset Management Presentation 

D-1 



Training Name: _____________________________ Date ofTrainin"g:=-------------------- Funder for Event 

Training location: ____________________________ _ Room: 

lead Trainer: ----------------------------- co.Trainer: (onlyifovtr 4hrs.t 

Training Items ✓ Facility ✓ Deadlines Due Date ✓ 

fin;ilize Agenda (Upload to staff site 30 
- --

_w.< ~~•--~ ••~:~;na ~,,ontl 

-
Secure facility, ensure ADA Access, MAP In-Kind form signed Secure Date & Location 

Sign in Sheet with Hyperlink (filled in with 

~-reRistrantsl 
Check for how many it can seat/ room set-up Develop/ prepare training 

Pre/ Post test Wi·Fi (if needed), Projector screen 
Send PP/mat erials to FM (6 weeks prior to 

training) 

Test Answer Key Check w ith facility for ear ly set-up (hours of operation) Secure contact hours/ CEU's (State and EPA) 

Evaluations 
Confirm with facility hours of use for your event. (can you leave 

set-up over night?) 
Announcement sent at 6 Wks.; 3 Wks.; 1 wk. 

Handouts Check with facility if food and drinks can be brought In List pre-registered 

Certificates 
Market training by calling i f less than S 

participants, Clerks Group, Municpal League 

Speaker Notes/ Bio Sheets 
REFRESHMENTS 

' Food I tems (Approval Requi red) 
✓ Collate training packets (folder, calendars, etc.) 

-
Backup -presentations on jump drive Donuts I Cookies 

Pre-packaged Snacks 

Equipment ✓ lunch Post Training Task NOTES ✓ 

-
Cornput er Ice tea # attendees 

Projector / Screen Coffee # syst ems 

Remote control and extra batteries Coffee pot Score pre/post test 

Extension cord and Power Strip Creamer Scan pre/post test 

Speakers for computer Sugar Scan evaluations 

Printer Cups Scan Sign In sheet 

Ink cartridges (extra) Napkins Upload 1 file to DCS (PDF) Agenda 

Flip Charts Water coolers Sign in Sheet 

Paper/ Name Tents Ice for water coolers Pre/Post Test 

Stapler/ Tape Roll Paper Towels Follow-up with those requesting assistance Evaluations 

Hover Cam/ w . SD Card Build distribution email list from registrations 

Highlighter and Black Marker Enter NPA info into the DCS 

MAP Banner/ Table Topper 

Extra pens/pencils 

Business cards D Update Training Tracker 

Compile addresses for source magazine and 

nrnvirlP tn FM 

Calculators ✓ CHECK EACH item as you complete the task 

-



Attendee Name 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

-io 

Midwest Assistance t?rogwam0 ~Ullto 
SIGN IN SHEET 

Facility Based Training ~ 

Area of Workshop: r ..... , - . ...,, --~A-<'<·~-•,..,scc-• .L~•~,, =~,-., .. _,,._.; 

Location: --- ...---- •. -..c ,.· .,.,....._ 

Attendee Signature Mailing Address Telephone 

Page 1 

Date: -----------
Trainer: , ~~-'IL.•-;-,,. -- - - .... ~,:e---~ ..... ~~,t~:-:-:= 

1- Time/Title of Workshop 

2- Time/Title of Workshop 

Funder, i:-.re,:4 

FunderL.........l 

Contact Hrs./Sessio1 

1 • Check 2· 

E-mail System Name Operator# if Check I 
present presen 



TRAINING TIPS AND TRICKS 

• Start with Goal of the training. Define the goal. Ask your.self what are the training objectives? And why are we here? 

• Have a 1>rojcct community host and support the training by allO\\ling their staff to attend 
• Should have 5 attendees at a minimum. I lost community should help meet the minimum or plan your trainings at a different location, cGU folks to provide a personal invite to uainings 

• Rehearse your trainings. You should Xnow the presentation very well 

• Be prepared for your trainings do not wing it 
• 5 bullets max per slid4?. No more than Swords per bullet, use photos, do not read your slides 

• Include a transition slide when switching top1u 
• As you think about sequencing vour t,ciining, leave something good for the <!nd to keep attendees around for entire training 
• Use training materials as a starting point from the staff $ite, make state specific 
• Allow attendees to online chi't duril'lg your presentation. It is great way to &i;eep them engaged and communicating with you and the attendees 

• Use a headset with a d!rectionc:11 m icrophonc 
• Use a wcbcam p laced at eye levc-1. leave J palm width of free space aboV<! vour head in your monitor 

• Place lighting in front of you and place appropriate ltams In thP background 

• P,epare your audience for virtual learning, it may be new to them 
• Use 2 times the encr-gy in your voice when gSVing online training 
• Report NPA and upload documents to staff site within 1 week of th~ training event 

• l raining l rac1<er and O(S NPA details. should match. double check they arc the same 



9:00AM -

9:15AM -

9:45AM -

10:15 AM -

10:30 AM -

11:00 AM -

11:30AM . 

12:00 PM -

I 12:30 PM . 

BOARD & AUDITOR WORl(SHOP 

September 14, 2021 
Sanborn Community Center 

620 5th Ave 
Sanborn, ND 58480 

AGENDA 

9:15AM Welcome, Sign-in, Introductions, Pre-test 

9:45AM Water System Regulations 

10:15 AM Preparing Annual Budgets 

10:30AM BREAK 

11:00 AM Financial and Management Reporting 

11:30AM Rate Studies 

12:00 PM USDA RD Programs, Loan Specialist Ranetta Starr 

12:30 PM Asset Management 

12:4S PM Financial Sustainabil ity for a N.D. City 

-
12:45 PM . 1:15 PM Water Plant Tour 

1:15 PM 1:30 PM Q&A & Wrap Up 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT -
I Brian Day 701-214-8315 b.dat@ma12-inc.org 

The beard tram· ... g session i-s complete-ty voluntary and at no cost to you or your community. Refreshments will be provided. 
To confirm your ane-dance or a member on your board or for details please contact Brian Day at 701-214-8315 or via e-mail at 

b.:iay{?map-inc.org. Please confirm your attendance for the board training by September 10, 2021. 

nus workshop is supported by a contract through EPA. 

Midwest 
Assistance 
Program 

..._.._. ---------,. •wr·v1n~ rura CQ1n1nunitt1.•:-, .;,in, l 1•n•1 
Kt ,'\ f' 'I ':.'. I t..: '• t t, I I I' 

What You Will Learn 

The purpose of the training is to 
assist boards and auditors to 

perform their duties diligently by 

providing the skills and 

knowledge to understand the 

necessary requirements to keep 

cities or water systems sound 
and sustainable for generations 

to come. 

I 

MAP is an equal opportunity provider 
and employer and does not 

discriminate against qualified 
individuals with disabilities. We offer a 

wide variety of training one on one or 

class room style. 

Check our website for a list of upcoming 

events or ca ll our office to request a 

training in your area. 
660-562-2575 

www.map-inc.org 



Midwest 
Assistance 
Program 

.....,.,,,, 

Asset Managment 

'i.C1ving I urn! < rnn1 m1ni1ic:,. , i1H ,. 1'17<> 
l{t /,V NllW t ...: . VIM!! IJ 

June 2, 2021 

Kalispell 

[- Ctlid~-ttere "') 

L _!O REGISTER .p-r,J 
'---' 

Wastewater 

Treatment Facility 

2001 Airport Road 

Kalispell, MT 59901 

8:00 AM - 8:15 AM 

8:15 AM - 9:45 AM 

9:45 AM - 10:00 AM 

10:00 AM - 11:30 AM 

11:30 AM - 12:00 PM 

12:00 PM 12:15 PM 

Lynora Rogstad 

Sign in, pre test and introductions. 

What are your assets and what condition are they in? How can we use our asset 

information to track maintenance and repairs to set replacement priorities? 

Break 

GIS Mapping. How it helps with preventative maintenance, inventory, asset 

management and capital improvement plans. - Presented by Ron Vanderpool, GIS 

Coordinator for MAP. 

How to use the data you've collected to create a capital improvement program 

and start planning on how to fund it. Questions? 

Wrap up, post test and adjourn. 

Email: lrogstad@map-inc.org 

Phone: 406-422-2640 

This workshop is supported by a contract through Region 8 EPA 

MAP is an equal opportunity provider/ employer and does not d iscriminate against qualified individuals with disabilities. 

Funder# 146 

· accordance with the Americans with Disabil ities Act (ADA), MAP will make reasonable accommodations for 

persons w ith disabilities who wish to participate in the workshop. Please contact the trainer for accommodation 

requests. 



Midwest 
Assistance 
Program 

---------..... J'.l0!,.' ,o,.d ti,1rur·.,..1;tl , ., .. 1. ~ . ' 

f. ~ • 

Elected Officials Training 
Covering the Basics 

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 

3:00 - 5:00 PM 

Virtual Training 

Follow the link from your registration Email 

to sign into training at designated time. 

This training is for all elected municipal government board or council members. Ideal for newly elected 

officials, but also a great refresher for all re-elected members and all municipal staff. 

This live virtual training can be viewed on a computer or smart phone. 

3:00 PM - 3:15 PM Introductions, Go To Training 

3:15 PM - 4:05 PM Understanding Your Roles & Responsibilities 
- Government Basics 

- Motions, Resolutions & Ordinances 

- Conducting Meetings 
- Buying & Selling Property - bidding and surplusing 

4:05 PM - 4:45 PM Rate Setting & Financial Management 
- Budgeting 

- Setting Your Utility Rates 

4:45 PM - 5:00 PM Wrap up 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT . .,, .. · _, . ..-.·~•,,=•,=->i,,<!.~ 

Jackie Luttrell Email: jluttrell@map- inc.org 

Technical Assistance Provider Phone: 605-237-3370 

This workshop is supported by a contract through Region 8 EPA 

RC.AP~ 
rv1;..p ·s a"' cq .. 1al oppor·uni:v provider/employer and does not discriminate against qt1alified individuals witl1 disabilities. 

There is no Fee to Attend - Pre-registration is Required. 



BOARD AND CLERK TRAINING FOR CAPACITY BUILDING 

An online workshop offering financial and managerial information 
for water and sewer systems, focused on the responsibilities of 

appointed and elected officials in a team-oriented approach. 

Tu~sday, May 11, 2021 1 :00--4:00 PM 

Registration: h ·tps:/lattendee gototraining.comlr/2338714423024778497 

Agenda ToQics 

General Board Responsibilities 
\Vhat's Required to Conduct Legal Meetings 

Operating Under Robert's Rules of Order 
Tips and Tricks for Taking Good Minutes 

Budgeting, Financial Reporting, Audit Requirements 
Developing Sustainable Utility Rates 
Asset Management Considerations 

Emergency Response Plans and Vulnerability Assessments 
When USDA-RD Funds Your Project 

Following registration, attendees wi]] receive a confinnation E-mail 
containing information about joining the training. Contact Jeff Kormann at 

(573}680-0682~ or.1konnann@maJl-inc.org for more information. 

MAP (www. map-inc.urg) provides assistance to small communities through grants.from 
USDA Rural Development. ff you are having a problem with your system MAP can help 
with technical, managerial, and financial concerns at no cost. 

USDA~ 
~ ~ 

Development 

1 Midwest 
Assistance 
Procrram ..-..,-, ;::, ---=,etvir1l; 1 or.,t ,·om1nu1111u::,, ,,net· 1~7-, 
;, { ,_ .,_ . 



Midwest 
Assistance 
Program 

Workshop Name: i: IL~=~=:;::;;__ ____ --::.=:.::;:;~~::.::..:..=::.~ 

SPrving 1ur.1! communitic-.:. ".in<c 1()79 
R ( -\ fl i\ F V'~f O 4 K •,.11 ! ~1 ~ ~ t~ 

Location: 

Date: 

Funder: L...~~;;uw 

... Time: 1 ;--:II 

Please help the Midwest Assistance Program deliver the best possible workshops by completing this evaluation. These 

questions are optional and your answers will be kept private. We would like you to tell us your race, ethnicity, and gender 

so that we can find and address differences in access to training and other services in rural communities. 

Name/ Title: Organization/System: State: ----------
1. Race, Select all that apply: 

□ American Indian or Alaska Native 

D Middle Eastern or North African 

D Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin 

D Prefer to Self Describe: 

D Asian D Black or African descent 

D Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 

□ Prefer Not to Answer 

2. Gender, Select all that apply: 

D Female D Male D Non-binary D Prefer Not to Answer 

D Prefer to Self Describe: 

3. The instructor encouraged questions and attendee participation: 

D Yes D No 

4. You, the participant, actively participated and learned something new: 

D Yes □ No 

5. Your overall evaluation of the workshop: 

D Excellent D Very good O Good D Fair D Poor 

6. Your overall evaluation of the trainer(s): 

0 Excellent D Very good □ Good D Fair D Poor 

0 White 

□ Muti-racial 

7. What was the most valuable aspect of the workshop or please list something you learned? 

8. What was the least valuable aspect of the workshop? 

9. What improvements would you suggest for a future workshop session? 

Updated 4/ 26/22 



10. Will the training materials help you in your position? 

□ Yes O No Comments: 

11. How would you rate the facilities and service at the workshop session location? 

0 Excellent O Very good D Good D Fair D Poor 

12. Would you be interested in hosting or attending future workshops? If yes, please specify. 

0 Water O Wastewater D Solid Waste O I will host a MAP workshop 

0 Adm in/ Clerk/ Board O Math O Other: 

13. Job title (select one) 

0 Water/ Wastewater Operator 

0 Board or Council member 

0 Well Owner 

0 Utility staff D Regulatory/ Primacy D Other: 

□ Manager D TAP/ Consultant 

0 Groundwater Professional 

14. Number of systems represented? (One or more) 

D One D Specify total: 

15. Organization Type: 

-----

D Small (serving less than 500 population) D Serving more than 501 but less than 3,300 population 

D Serving more than 3,301 but less than 10,000 population O Large (Serving over 10,000 population) 

D Federal, state, territorial, or local agency 0 Technical assistance provider 

16. How did you hear about this training? 

0 Mail O Website 

D Phone D Peer 

D Email Announcement 

0 State or Federal Agency 

17. Please list specific topics you wish to see at future trainings: 

Email: 

D Social Media 

Phone: ________ _ 

MAP is an equal opportunity provider and employer and does not discriminate against qualified individuals with disabilities. 

THANK YOU - Midwest Assistance Program 
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Getting Started w ith Asset 
Management 
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Asset Condition OverTime ~EPA 

D Excellent 

D Good 

D fair 

1980 2000 2020 

- Poor 

- Vey Poor 
- life Elapsed 

~(:JJ@ 
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Asset Management is ... ~EPA 

'!4 process for maintaining a desired level of 
customer service at the best appropriate cost." 

Asset Management includes ... ~EPA 

1.: Bu lthng an inventory of ;<J111 asset< 

ITfil Sch•oduling and o-adHMJ n a nte nance tasks tt,rough work orders 

~ r:z, ag,"; '""' bucget,,d and actual annual ~,penses ;rnd ,ew.nue 
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Asset Management will ... 
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Gives you the basis to make good decisions 

In other words ... 

America's Water Infrastructure Act of 2018 
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A'MA Sec.ti:ln 2012 r11'1PJlCS. th! <'l>Wf.. ard r~ur~ 

• That the s-t11u--s ~mcn:f th:! state ra~a .. v o..,,,..t~t:nt stratcg-/ to 
,.::~ a description of how the mtewilf er1courage the 
development of asset management plans that nckdes bes: 
JT,:tcxes and 1"'Cl...6!: orr1 trari',g, tectriic~I a;$1$tM·<e- ard ctr.e~ 
arttvtie-s ro t~i) mt:"~~rt asset tnanacdl'let.t l)t)ns, 

• Th,"tl th·! '-I,! ~,·,1...r.-. ,,nltl(I.Jk ftf ih-;.,..ac l Mb:•'> :or-n::o. ra<Jf' ,1();<-r't 

m:ir,,;;q,-m..,,r IA":.~ r th•C,c:.;1<-1n...r, r('(A..d 
• EPA tor ..... ..-.-, .1:-,11.1)1.."".-., If .1pe.1lt,Mt~. ,.,;,et n•.m.~,1~· tbtmt'ds 

a:ld lr~•QS ":'tt:"V (u ... '~fS'.. 

SEPA 

SEPA 

5/24/2022 



The 5 Core Questions 
A" Asset t,lanagcrncm FrarncY.'Ork 

What Is The Current State OfThe Utility's 
Assets? 

, What does the ut:1l1tv own? 

,, Vi/here 1s it'? 
,, \l\1hal 1s 115 OOlld1l1on? 

> What is its remorning value-;, 

- What is 1tc: fP.maining useful life? 

What Is The Utility's Requ ired Sustained Level Of 
Service (LOS}? 

,,. What do the regul<!fms ritqu11~" 

, What are U\e ubl,ty's pcrformano, goals? 

.SEPA 

.SEPA 

.SEPA 

, \..Vhat LO'i do U)t utility'-. wstom.:>rs demand? 

~ .. , ... ~J~ 

C.H ---.F,~ .,"'.:! • • ,;.-.,, 

(t.~,..._•. 

, \Vhat a,e tl'<> ph1'Siail aipabilibes of the utility's 
asscis> 
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Which Assets Are Critical To Sustained 
Performance? 

, HO¥.' ran asset-.. far!' 

, How do asset> fail? 
, ~ltlat arc the hk!!hheods and c;onscquenccs 

of asset failure? 

, IMlat da<,s it cost to repai r the asset7 

, What are other rosts that are as..,;odated 
with asset failure? 

~EPA 

'"-" •JAA,o 
c:, ... ~.11~1•-~•-··~-'~ 

What Are The Utility's Best CIP and O&M 
S tr ateg ies? 

SEPA 

WliAl' ALTrR\IATIV( "'IAMf.l.G(]"\f.NT 
SfR!'iT[GIES CXISP 

V.4tA.T STRATECIES AP.ETHE MOST 
FFASTSI F FOil MY 0i'\G),Nl7A110N-:, 

What Is The Utility's Best Long-Term F1nanang 
Strategy? 

, Do we haVP. P.nough funding to maintain our 
c,ssets for nur required level of service"> 

, l s our rate structure sustamabk for our 
system':; long-term needs7 

1 
• 

S-EPA 
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Questions? 
Alison Flenniken 

U.S. EPA 
Office of Ground Wate r a nd Orinkiig WaW:r 

(202) S64· 4412 
Aennlken.Alison@epa.gov 

~~;~=~~-~-~ 
e 

&EPA 
• 

Resources 

EPA Asset VJanagement Resource Website 
bltns·l(wro-· cpa gnv{cb··raoanl~(assct-managcmcot-o"so1rro:s­
st:?!tes-c10d-~mall-drif'lrlng-water-S"::s!t-ms 

As..<Cl Mclnagc,"ncnl for Water and Wastewater Ulll1l1cs 
llltps·//vruw t'Oa gov/y1(.la11mbltt:walerMiufra:,1r11rh1Ce'aW-l­
maoag~meot-wat:er-and-l.-va"tewarec-11tilibes 

Water Finnnte acaringhouse 
b1tps·l/0[moi1h c•pa gov/apcxl"dctOp 161 ·J 

SEPA 
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ATTACHMENT E - MAP GIS CAP ABILITIES 
to 

MAP, INC. RFP BOARD/OWNERS TRAINING/WORKSHOPS 
for 

NEBRASKA SOLICITAION 6691 Zl 

The following documents are provided for MAP GIS Capabilities. 

1. MAP GIS Brochure 
2. MAP GIS Capabilities Overview 
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MAP GIS Capabilities 

An Overview 

Midwest Assistance Program 
303 N. Market St.J Suite 2 

MaryvilleJ MO. 64468 
{660) 562-2575 

map@map-inc.org 

MAP provides an affordable full-service GIS-based infrastructure management structure from inventory 

acquisition to analysis of the system's infrastructure including any up-to-date changes in the system 

components and conditions. 

MAP utilizes the current ESRI GIS desktop and cloud environments to deliver state-of-the-art results 

catered to each system's individual needs. 

Our capabilities include but are not limit to the following; 

Meter accuracy infrastructure inventory data collection. 

Static (paper) infrastructure mapping development and printing based on current system information. 

Infrastructure management through a secure, multi-level operational access cloud-based environment 
of; 

10/5/2020 

Interactive mapping 

Interactive O&M forms 

Interactive data analysis 

Define problems and solutions 

Query conditions and trends 

Modeling, planning and projections 

Interactive data development with associated maps, charts, and tables for reports and 

visualization that can be hosted in a private or public-facing environment used in meetings and 

presentations for educational, planning, or funding acquisition needs. 

Midwest Assistance Program 1 
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CliftonlarsonAllen LLP 

CLAconnect.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 
Maryville, Missouri 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc., which 
comprise the statements of financial position as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related 
statements of activities and changes in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

(1) 
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Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the 
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 
Other Information - Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
February 14, 2022 on our consideration of Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Midwest Assistance 
Program, lnc.'s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

~~LL? 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

St. Joseph, Missouri 
February 14, 2022 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

2021 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,213,284 

Grants, Contracts, and Accounts Receivable 467,961 

Prepaid Expenses 13,602 

Total Current Assets 1,694,847 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 78,096 

OTHER ASSETS 
Lease Deposit 1,000 

Total Assets $ 1773943 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts Payable $ 49,819 

Accrued Employee Costs 320,716 

Lease Incentive, Current Portion 1,348 

Total Current Liabilities 371,883 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Lease Incentive 12,024 

Total Liabilities 383,907 

NET ASSETS 
Without Donor Restrictions 1,390,036 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 1,773,943 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
(3) 

2020 

$ 1,001,173 
548,945 

13,117 
1,563,235 

$ 1,563,235 

$ 68,626 
316,918 

385,544 

385,544 

1,177,691 

$ 1,563,235 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

2021 

REVENUES WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
Grants and Contracts $ 4,569,284 

Interest Income 647 
In-Kind Revenue 130,500 
Other Income 730 

Total Revenues Without Donor Restrictions 4,701 ,161 

EXPENSES 
Program Activities: 

Water and Wastewater 3,637,248 

Economic Development 18,525 

Solid Waste 125,737 

Total Program Activities 3,781,510 

Support Activities: 
Management and General 707 306 

Total Expenses 4,488,816 

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 212,345 

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 1,177,691 

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 1,390,036 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements 
(4) 

2020 

$ 4,242,609 
929 

122,100 
1,336 

4,366,974 

3,416,144 
6,321 

115,667 
3,538,132 

617,656 
4,155,788 

211,186 

966,505 

$ 1 177,691 



Water and 
Wastewater 

EXPENSES 
Salaries and Wages $ 2,304,866 
Fringe Benefits 595,772 
Independent Contractors 
and Subgrantees 9,028 

Professional Fees 5,106 
Travel 340,540 
Communications 152,841 

Space Costs 136,441 
Supplies 62,959 
Equipment Costs 4,199 
Depreciation 
Other 25,496 

Total Expenses $ 3,637,248 

MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

2021 
Program Supporting Program 

Activities Activities Activities 

Management 
Economic Solid and Water and Economic 

Develoement Waste General Total Wastewater Develoement 

$ 13,077 $ 81,531 $ 400,054 $ 2 ,799,528 $ 1,997,475 $ 3,876 

3,543 20,877 82,034 702,226 709,481 1,410 

35,882 44,910 10,062 
20,291 25,397 

935 15,506 36,844 393,825 299,445 638 

759 5,809 39,380 198,789 157,044 259 

36 225 24,800 161 ,502 125,628 13 

72 445 12,667 76,143 41 ,999 62 

2 7 10,326 14,534 14,848 8 
1,096 1,096 354 25 

101 1 337 43,932 70,866 59808 30 

~ 18,525 $ 125,737 ~ 707,306 $ 4,488,816 $ 3,416,144 $ 6 321 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
(5) 

2020 
Supporting 
Activities 

Management 
Solid and 

Waste General Total 

$ 75,605 $ 337,087 $ 2,414,043 
25,159 105,1 18 841,168 

28,851 38,913 
22,396 22,396 

8,484 51,423 359,990 
5,685 26,085 189,073 

216 21,375 147,232 
47 15,168 57,276 

425 15,281 
25 102 506 

446 9,626 69,910 

§ 115,667 $ 617,656 $ 4,155,788 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

2021 2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Change in Net Assets $ 212,345 $ 211,186 

Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets 
to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities: 
Depreciation 1,096 506 

Effects of Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities: 
Grants, Contracts, and Accounts Receivable 80,984 490,244 

Prepaid Expenses (485) (12,344} 

Lease Deposit (1 ,000) 

Accounts Payable (18,807) (9,790) 

Accrued Employee Costs 3,798 (65,720) 

Other Liabilities 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 277,931 614,082 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of Property and Equipment {65,820) 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 212,111 614,082 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 1 001,173 387,091 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 1,213,284 $ 1,001,173 

NONCASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Property and Equipment Acquired through Lease Incentive $ 13,372 $ 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
(6) 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. (the Organization) is a nonprofit corporation, organized in 
1979 in the state of Nebraska, to provide technical and other consultative services and 
assistance to public, private, profit-oriented, and nonprofit sponsors of community 
improvements in Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, North Dakota, 
South Dakota, and Wyoming. The Organization receives funding from the Office of 
Community Services (OCS) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), 
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) of the 
U.S. Department of Agriculture, and various other governmental agencies and private 
foundations. 

Net Assets 

Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of 
donor or grantor imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are 
classified and reported as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Net assets available for use in general 
operations and not subject to donor (or certain grantor) restrictions. The governing board 
has not designated any net assets from net assets without donor restrictions. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - Net assets subject to donor- (or certain grantor-) 
imposed restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as 
those that will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the donor. 
Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that 
resources be maintained in perpetuity. Gifts of long-lived assets and gifts of cash 
restricted for the acquisition of long-lived assets are recognized as revenue when the 
assets are placed in service. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction 
expires, that is, when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated purpose for 
which the resource was restricted has been fulfilled, or both. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand and savings deposits. 

Grants, Contracts, and Accounts Receivables 
Accounts receivable are stated at net realizable value. The Organization's policy is to 
recognize accounts receivable based on services provided during the fiscal year. The 
Organization reviews receivables for collectibility, and when an amount is not deemed 
collectible, it is written off to a related allowance account. Any allowance for doubtful 
accounts is estimated by management based on bad debt history from previous years and 
the aging of accounts receivable balances. Management has evaluated the collectibility of 
amounts and deems all amounts to be collectible at September 30, 2021 and 2020. At 
September 30, 2021 and 2020, all grants and contracts accounts receivable were due within 
one year. 

(7) 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment is recorded at cost or at fair value if donated or purchased. The 
Organization follows a policy that only items costing greater than $5,000 and having a useful 
life over one year are capitalized. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Maintenance and repairs are charged to 
expense as incurred; major renewals and betterments are capitalized. When items of 
equipment are sold or retired, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed 
from the accounts, and any gain or loss is included in the results of operations. 

Equipment acquired with federal grant funds is considered to be owned by the Organization 
while used in the program for which it was purchased or in other authorized programs; 
however, the United States has a reversionary interest in the property. Its disposition, along 
with ownership of any proceeds there from, is subject to federal regulations. 

Grants and Contract Revenue 

The Organization receives a significant amount of revenue in the form of grants. The 
Organization recognizes grant funds received or receivable as revenue to the extent that 
qualifying allowable expenses have been incurred and barriers have been overcome, as 
such, the donor restriction is met prior to the revenue being recognized causing it to be 
considered revenue without donor restriction. Any funds received but not yet earned are 
shown as deferred revenue. 

Expenditures under government contracts are subject to review by the granting authority. To 
the extent, if any, that such a review reduces expenditures allowable under these contracts, 
the Organization will record such disallowance at the time the final assessment is made. 

Functional Allocation of Expense 
Salaries and related expenses are allocated based on employees and management direct 
time spent on program or support activities or the best estimate of time spent. Rents are 
allocated based on direct program or support service usage. Expenses, other than salaries 
and related expense, which are not directly identifiable by program or support services, are 
allocated based on the best estimates of management. 

Direct costs which benefit more than one program are allocated to the various programs on 
the basis of the relative benefits received by each program; allocation methods comply with 
the requirements and limitations of the underlying grants. 

Indirect or overhead costs are charged to programs through an indirect cost rate approved 
annually by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Use of Estimates 
Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenses. 
Significant estimates incorporated into the Organization's financial statements include the 
estimated lives of depreciable assets, and the allocation incorporated into the statements for 
functional expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates that were used. 

Tax-Exempt Status 
The Organization is a tax-exempt charitable organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. 

The Organization follows the standards for evaluating uncertain tax positions and has 
determined no liability should be recorded for uncertain tax positions. 

Subsequent Events 
The Organization has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or 
disclosure in these financial statements through February 14, 2022, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

NOTE 2 LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other 
contractual commitments, while also striving to maximize the investment of its available 
funds. The Organization has various sources of liquidity at its disposal, including cash and 
cash equivalents and accounts receivable. In addition to financial assets available to meet 
general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Organization anticipates collecting 
sufficient revenue to cover general expenditures not covered by donor-restricted resources. 
Refer to the statements of cash flows which identify the sources and uses of the 
Organization's cash. 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions 
limiting their use, within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise of the following: 

2021 2020 

Cash $ 1,213,284 $ 1,001 ,173 

Grants, Contracts, and Accounts Receivable 467,961 548,945 

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash 
Needs for Expenditures Within One Year $ 1,681,245 $ 1,550,118 

The Organization has no contractual or donor-imposed restrictions, or board designations 
on its financial assets. 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

NOTE 3 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT ANO ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, consists of the following at 
September 30: 

Leasehold Improvements 
Equipment 

Total Cost 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

Total 

$ 

$ 

2021 
79,192 
17,324 
96,516 
18,420 
78 096 

2020 
$ 

17 324 
17,324 
17,324 

$ 

The net book value of equipment purchased with federal grant programs was $-0- at 
September 30, 2021 and 2020. 

NOTE 4 RELATED PARTY 

The executive director of the Organization serves as a board member of the Rural 
Community Assistance Partnership (RCAP) and as such, RCAP is considered a related 
party. The Organization recognized grant revenue from RCAP of $2,580,689 and 
$2,119,228 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and has 
$203,393 and $261 ,255 in grants and accounts receivable from RCAP at September 30, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 

NOTE 5 IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS 

In-kind contributions consisted of $130,500 and $122,100 in donated office space for the 
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

NOTE 6 RETIREMENT PLAN 

The Organization sponsors a 401 (k) retirement plan (the Plan). Each participant may elect 
to contribute a percentage of gross wages with some limitations. The Organization provides 
a discretionary 100% match of employee contributions up to 3%, as well as an additional 
50% match on the next 6% of compensation. Employer contributions to the Plan for the 
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were $119,630 and $1 14,029, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 LEASES 

MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

The Organization leases office space and office equipment for administrative functions. 
Rental expenses for office space and equipment amounted to $24,800 and $21 ,600 for the 
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The lease agreement is effective 
from August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2031 and requires monthly rental payments of $2,500 
for the first five years. Rental payments for each of the remaining years will be negotiated 
each year. Annual increases will not exceed 10% in any given year, and monthly rental 
payments will not exceed $3,250. Lease incentives of $13,372 for leasehold improvements 
was included with the lease agreement. Future lease commitments and amortization of the 
lease incentive are as follows: 

Year Ending September 30, 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 

Thereafter 
Total 

NOTE 8 CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK 

Rental 
Payment 

$ 30,000 
30,000 
30,000 
30,000 
30,000 

145,000 
$ 295,000 

Lease Incentive 
Amortization 

$ 1,348 
1,348 
1,348 
1,348 
1,348 
6632 

$ 13,372 

Grant revenue totaling $3,728,784 and $3,563,011 was received from two granting agencies 
for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which represents 82% and 
84%, respectively, of total grant revenue. Accounts receivable from these granting agencies 
totaled $330,752 and $381,257 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, representing 72% and 69%, respectively, of total accounts receivable. Thus, 
the Organization is highly dependent on funding from these two granting agencies. 

The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which at times, may exceed 
the insured limits of $250,000 per financial institution. At September 30, 2021 , the 
Organization had cash balances in excess of the FDIC insurance limits of $750,394. 

NOTE 9 CONDITIONAL GRANT RECEIVABLES 

The Organization has conditional grant receivables totaling $3,579,953 that management 
anticipates will be received in 2022. Payments are conditional upon the successful 
completion of contract stipulations. Since these receivables are conditional upon future 
events, they are not recognized as revenue at September 30, 2021. 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 

NOTE 10 CONTINGENCIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

Federal and State Grant Awards 
The Organization receives various direct and pass-through federal and state grant awards. 
The operations for programs under such awards are subject to audits for compliance by the 
appropriate funding agency. Such audits could lead to reimbursement to the grantor 
agencies. Management believes such audit disallowances, if any, will not be material. 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 

Assistance Pass Through 

Federal Granter/Pass through Grantor/ Listing Entity 

Pro.2ram or Cluster TiUe Pass Through Organization Number (ALN) Number 

Department of Agriculture 
Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.761 C24001G165256 

Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.761 C24001G167453 

Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.761 C24001G167456 

Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.761 C24001G172048 

Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.761 C24001G172042 

Subtotal ALN 10.761 Technical Assistance and Training Grants 

Technical Assistance and Training Grants Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.762 C24001G168560 

Subtotal ALN 10.762 Technical Assistance and Training Grants 

Rural Development Cooperative Agreement Program Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.890 23-7367533 

Rural Development Cooperative Agreement Program Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.890 12RDRH2000002 

Rural Development Cooperative Agreement Program Rural Community Assistance Partnership 10.890 RHS-21CF-001 

Subtotal ALN 10.890 Rural Development Cooperative 

Agreement Program 
Total Department of Agriculture 

Environmental Protection Agency 
Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 

Grants (Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.424 XS-83938701-0 

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 

Grants (Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.424 X6-84003001-0 

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 
Grants (Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.424 X6-84003001-0 

Subtotal ALN 66.424 Surveys, Studies, Investigations, 

Demonstration, and Training Grants 

(13) 

Grant 

Program Award Federal 

Period Amount Expenditures 

9/1/19-11/30/20 $ 1,311,000 $ 64,480 

9/1120-8/31/21 1,185,933 1,185,933 

9/1/20-8/31/21 71,000 69.412 

9/1/21-8/31/22 1,306,319 89,260 

911/21-8/31/22 84,000 3,396 

3,958,252 1,412,481 

10/1/20-9/30/21 149,000 149,000 

149,000 149,000 

9/30/2018-9/30/2021 40,000 6,606 

10/1/2020-3/31 /2022 60,000 6,020 

10/1/2020-4/30/2022 70,000 9,089 

170,000 21,715 

4,277,252 1,583,196 

10/1/2018-9/30/2021 906,625 402,685 

10/1/2020-3/31 /2022 729,850 137,831 

10/1/2020-3/3112022 290,Q_O0_ ~ 107 

1,926,475 634,623 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (CONTINUED) 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 

Assistance Pass Th rough 

Federal Grantor/Pass through Grantor/ Listing Entity 

Proaram or Cluster TiHe Pass Through Organization Number (ALN) Number 

Enllironmental Protection Agency (Continued) 

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 

Grants and Cooperative Agreemenls 
(Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.436 X7-83938501-0 

Surveys, Studies, lnvestigalions, Demonstration, and Training 

Grants and Cooperative Agreements 
(Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.436 X7-83938801-0 

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 

Grants and Cooperative Agreements 
(Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.436 X7-84000101 

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstration, and Training 

Granls and Cooperative Agreemenls 
(Training and Technical Assistance) Rural Community Assistance Partnership 66.436 X7-884007801 

Subtotal ALN 66.436 Surveys, Studies, Investigations, 

Demonstration, and Training Grants and Cooperalive Agreements 

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds North Dakota Department of Health 66.468 DWSRF 21.001 

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds North Dakota Department of Health 66,468 DWSRF 19.001 

South Dakota Department of Environment & 

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds Natural Resources 66.468 2018-41 

Subtotal ALN 66.468 Capitalization Grants for Drinking 

Water State Revolving Funds 

Total Environmental Protection Agency 

Department of Health and Human Services Direct Programs 

Community Services Block Grant-Discretionary Awards Direct Award 93.570 90EF0090-01-00 

Community Services Block Grant-Discretionary Awards Di rect Award 93.570 90EF0090-02-00 

Total ALN 93.570 Department of Health and Human 

Services Direct Programs 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 
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Grant 

Program Award Federal 

Period Amount Expenditures 

10/1/2018-9/30/2021 $ 283,400 $ 80,954 

10/1/2018-9/30/2021 280,000 104,355 

10/1/2020-3/31/2022 132,000 68,532 

10/1/2020-3/31/2022 144,000_ 83,561 

839,400 337,402 

1/8/2021-12/31 /2021 67,500 20,974 

1/1/2020-12/31/2020 67,700 10,746 

1/4/18-1 /31/2024 250,000 61,036 

385,200 92,756 

3,151 ,075 1,064,781 

9/30/2020-9/29/2021 1,148,059 1,148,059 

9/30/2021-9/29/2022 1,181 ,975 36 

2,330,034 1. 148,095_ 

$ 9,758,361 $ 3,796,072 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020 

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal award activity of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. (the Organization) under 
programs of the federal government for the year ended September 30, 2021 . The 
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected 
portion of the operations of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc., it is not intended to and does 
not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of Midwest 
Assistance Program, Inc. 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits 
made in the normal course of business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years. 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. has a federally negotiated indirect cost rate and therefore 
has not elected to use the 1 O percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. 

NOTE 3 SUBRECIPIENTS 

The purpose of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is to present a summary of 
the Organization's federal grant activity. The Organization did not provide any federal 
awards to subrecipients for the year ended September 30, 2021 . 
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

CLAconnect.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 
Maryville, Missouri 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Midwest Assistance 
Program, Inc., which comprise the statement of financial position as of September 30, 2021, and the 
related statements of activities and changes in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated February 14, 2022. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Midwest Assistance 
Program, lnc.'s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Midwest 
Assistance Program, lnc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Midwest 
Assistance Program, lnc.'s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Midwest Assistance 
Program, lnc.'s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 

~~LL.;? 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

St. Joseph, Missouri 
February 14, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR 
FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 
Maryville, Missouri 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 's major federal programs for the year ended 
September 30, 2021. Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s major federal programs are identified in the 
summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management's Responsibility 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Midwest Assistance Program, 
lnc.'s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those 
standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above 
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence about Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s compliance with those 
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Midwest Assistance 
Program, lnc.'s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Programs 
In our opinion, Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its 
major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2021 . 
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Board of Directors 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. 
In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s 
internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material 
effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program 
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Midwest Assistance Program, lnc.'s 
internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

~~LL? 
CliftonlarsonAllen LLP 

St. Joseph, Missouri 
February 14, 2022 
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MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 

Section I - Summary of Auditors' Results 

Financial Statements 

1. Type of auditors' report issued: Unmodified 

2. Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? yes 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes 

3. Noncompliance material to financial 
statements noted? yes 

Federal Awards 

1. Internal control over major federal programs: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? yes 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes 

2. Type of auditors' report issued on 
compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified 

3. Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? yes 

X no 

X none reported 

X no 

X no 

X none reported 

X no 

Identification of Major Federal Programs 

Assistance Listing Number(s) 

93.570 

Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

Community Services Block Grant - Discretionary 
Award 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

(20) 

$ 750,000 

--""-x __ yes _ ____ no 



MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED) 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Section Ill - Findings and Questioned Costs-Major Federal Programs 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a). 
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RNODAWAY 
all VAl,LEY BANK 

May 19th, 2022 

RE: M idwest Assist Program INC 

To Whom It May Concern: 

We confirm that Midwest Assist Program INC has maintained a current account with Nodaway Valley 

Bank with our office for 5 years since 7/18/2016. 

This is to certify that Midwest Assist Program INC, residing address 309 E Sumrn it Dr, Maryville, MO 

64468, has been of Nodaway Valley Bank since 7/18/2016. We confirm that accounts held by this client 

has been of proper conduct. 

We give forgoing information without any responsibility on part of Nodaway Valley Bank. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Mindy Briner 

Customer Support Specialist 

Nodaway Valley Bank 

Direct Inquiries to: 

Toll Free: 877-217-4682 

0 P.O. Box 700 
.~/\aryvi!le, MO 64468 
660-562-3232 

Mound City, MO 
660-442-3131 

www.nvb.com 

Savannah, MO 
816-324-3158 

MEMBER F.0.1.C. 

OP.0 ,6ox 7315 
St. Joseph, MO 64507 
816-364-5678 
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financial statements, business paper and computer files, client or employee lists, and 
any other information pertaining to the business of MAP or any of its clients, 
consultants, licensees, or affiliates acquired during their employment, unless it is 
determined to be necessary in the ordinary course of performing their duties as an 
employee of MAP. 
If in doubt as to whether any program, material or other information is confidential, 
employees must ask their supervisor prior to such disclosure. Failure to comply may 
result in corrective action up to and including termination of employment. 

Upon termination of employment, employees will be required to return all materials and 
information and any copies of such materials to their supervisor. 

Internal Relationships 

MAP recognizes that involvement in a romantic relationship may compromise or create 
a perception that compromises a member of management's ability to perform his/her 
job. This includes the internal relationships between members of MAP's management 
and their subordinates. Any involvement of a romantic nature between an officer, 
director, manager, or supervisor of the organization and anyone he/she either directly or 
indirectly supervises is strongly discouraged. This also includes relationships between 
employees and any MAP external customers, clients, suppliers, vendors, or individuals 
who work for other organizations with whom we partner. 

Should such a relationship develop, it must be disclosed as follows: The highest 
member of management directly involved in an internal relationship must disclose it to 
his/her supervisor or the Human Resources Coordinator. The employee directly 
involved in an external relationship must disclose to his/her supervisor or the Human 
Resources Coordinator. An assessment of the situation and recommendation to 
resolve any actual or potential conflict of interest or impropriety created by the 
relationship will be made. The recommendation may require a transfer to another 
position. Failure to make the disclosure or comply with a recommendation to resolve 
any conflict with this policy can result in corrective action up to and including termination 
of employment. 

Drug & Alcohol/Substance Abuse and Illegal Drug Use 

MAP is committed to providing a safe, comfortable and productive work environment for 
its employees. We recognize that employees who abuse drugs or alcohol at work or 
who appear at work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs harm both themselves 
and the work environment. As a result, we prohibit employees from doing the following: 

• Appearing at work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs. 

• Conducting MAP business while under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs 
(whether or not the employee is actually on work premises at the time). 

• Using alcohol or illegal drugs on the worksite. 
• Possessing, buying, selling, or distributing alcohol or illegal drugs on the 

worksite and possessing, buying, selling, or distributing alcohol or illegal drugs 

41 May 2022 
Midwest Assistance Program, Inc. 



while conducting MAP business (whether or not the employee is actually on 
work premises at the time). 

MAP will adhere to federal law concerning illegal drug use regardless of any current 
state law permitting the use of the drug. Illegal drug use includes more than just 
outlawed drugs, such as marijuana, cocaine, or heroin. It also includes the misuse of 
otherwise legal prescription and over-the-counter drugs. This policy covers times when 
employees are on-call but are not working and times when employees are driving MAP 
vehicles or using MAP equipment. Employees who violate this policy may face 
disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

As part of our efforts to keep this workplace safe and free of illegal drug use, we 
conduct random and intermittent drug tests in accordance of federal procurement 
guidelines. In addition, we may ask any employee regardless of job responsibility to 
submit to a drug test in the following circumstances: 

• When we reasonably suspect that the employee is under the influence of 
alcohol or illegal drugs. 

• When we suspect that the employee has been involved in the sale, purchase, 
use, or distribution of alcohol or illegal drugs on the work site or while 
performing job duties. 

• When the employee has been involved in a workplace accident or incident. 

• When an employee has been involved in an accident or incident off-site but 
while on MAP business. 

• When the employee has violated a safety rule. 
Employees who violate this policy will be subject to corrective action up to and including 
termination of employment. 

Inclement Weather or Travel Issues 

If weather conditions or traffic conditions make it impossible for an employee on travel 
status to get to a location where they are to be working or if they will be arriving late or 
need to leave early, employees must contact their supervisor and all affected parties as 
soon as possible in order to make alternative arrangements. Field staff must advise 
their supervisor if inclement weather conditions or traffic conditions are making it 
impossible to get to their office or a scheduled appointment. 

The closing of the MAP Central Office due to inclement weather conditions is at the 
ED's discretion. If this occurs, employees assigned to work at that office will be notified 
of the closing in accordance with established procedures and have the option of working 
from their homes. 

Employee Dress Code 

Employees are expected to dress appropriate to the work they do on any given day. 
Employees are to present a professional business image and attitude working with 
clients and when representing MAP to the public. 
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ATTACHMENT H - STATEMENT OF GOOD STANDING FOR NEBRASKA to MAP 
INC. RFP BOARD/OWNERS TRAINING/WORSHOPS for NE SOLICITATION 6691 Zl 

STATE OF NEBRASKA 
United States of America, 
State of Nebraska 

} ss. 
} 

Secretary of State 
State Capitol 
Lincoln, Nebraska 

I, Robert B. Evnen, Secretary of State of the 
State of Nebraska, do hereby certify that 

MIDWEST ASSISTANCE PROGRAM, INC. 

incorporated on January 8, 1979 and is duly incorporated under the law of 
Nebraska; 

that all fees, taxes, and penalties owed to Nebraska wherein payment is 
reflected in the records of the Secretary of State and to which nonpayment 
affects the good standing of the corporation have been paid; 

that its most recent biennial report required by section 21-19,172 has been 
delivered to the Secretary of State; 

that Articles of Dissolution have not been filed. 

This certificate is not to be construed as an endorsement, 
recommendation, or notice of approval of the entity's financial 

condition or business activities and practices. 

In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and 
affixed the Great Seal of the 

State of Nebraska on this date of 
.. --~- .··-~ 

"'. 

May 12, 2022 

( 1 
\ 

,'11911f.\~"':;: 

Secretary of State 

Verification ID 4f22c7d has been assigned to this document. Go tone.gov/go/validate to validate authenticity for up to 12 months. 



ATTACHMENT I- MAP PROOF OF INSURANCE 
to 

MAP, INC. RFP BOARD/OWNERS TRAINING/WORSHOPS 
for 

NE SOLICITATION 6691 Zl 

MAP Proof of Insurance follows. 



Client#: 127262 MIDWASS2 

ACORD", CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE 
I DATE (MMIDONYYY) 

9/01/2021 

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONA L INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on 

this certificate does not confer any rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). 

PRODUCER I Zf~r-c
1 

Deborah Overkamp 

CBIZ Insurance Services, Inc. jJ A)g,NJo, Ext): 763-549-2208 i it2 Nol: 763•549-2299 
222 S 9th St. STE 1000 ' i~D-'M~ss: doverkamp@cbiz.com 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 I INSURER(SJ AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC# 
763 549-2200 . INSURER A : Employers Mutuat_Casuatty Co. 21415 
-- ---
INSURED INSURER B : EMC Insurance Companies 

Midwest Assistance Program Inc I ---
INSURERC : 

309 East Summit Drive - - --
Maryville, MO 64468 

INSURER D_: ___ --- -
I INSURERE : 

INSURER F : 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER· REVISION NUMBER· 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. 

INSR TYPE OF INSURANCE ~i~L1~l ,:~Jdg1viy, 1,r:~k\5)'y~~½ LIMITS 
LTR POLICY NUMBER 

A ~ 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY I 50360532.2 ~9/01/2021 09/01/2022 ~ CH OCCURRENCE s1 ,000,000 

~I CLAIMS-MADE ~ OCCUR ~~~~~iJ9la~d0~n!"'l $300 000 -
,..15 PD Oed:250 l I MEO EXP IAnv one oorson) s10,009 __ -
_J PERSONAi. & ADV INJURY s 1 ,J)J)_Q,000 -~ -- -~ 

GEN"L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s2,00Q.i000 

X □PRO· □ LOC PRODUCTS· COMf:IOP AGG s2,ooo,ooo __ 
POLICY JECT 

OTHER: 
s 

- - --+ COM61NEOSINGI.E LI~ -
I AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY lJ§?_ac_ci!l~J i.?-- -
·7 ANY AUTO 

6001L Y INJURY (Per person) $ 
--- ---

~ OWNED ~ SCHEDULED BOOIL y INJURY (Per acddenl) s 
AUTOS ONLY AUTOS 

fp~~~!~~t?AMAGE 
- -- -- -

HIRED NON-OWNED s 
_ AUTOS ONLY }---J AUTOS ONLY 

I 
$ 

-
_ )( UMBRELLA LIAB f-i OCCUR 15J3605322 !()9101 12021 ' 09/01/202, 8 EACH O~CURRENCE s5 ,000,000 --
L... EXCESS LIAB . CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE s5 000 000 

· oED I xi RETEN110Ns10000 ' s 

A I WORKERS COMPENSATION I 5H3605322 09/01/2021 09/01/202gUif._ 2JH· 
ANO EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY y / N 

NIA i I l E.L. EACH ACCIDENT _ s500t000 ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE Em 
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? N E.L. DISEASE· EA EMPLOYEE._ s500, 000 
(Mandatory in NH) I -
If yes. describe under E.L. DISEASE· POLICY LIMIT $500 ,00Q 

__t_DESCRIPTION OF OPERATl9NS below - - ~-- ---· - - + -

I 
I 

I 

I 

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS I LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Acldltlonal Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more spoce is required) 
Certificate Holder is listed as additional insured on General Liability when required by written contract. 

Insurance is primary and non-contributory as required by written contract. 

Waiver of subrogation in favor of the cert holder applies on General L iability and Wor k Comp policies when 

required by written contract 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION 

State of Nebraska Administrative 
SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 

Services 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

State Purchasing Bureau 

301 Centennial Mall S.; 1st floor 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

I ;.,..,.."In ~11:: eesoa -tnh'L '6- ~ '-"•'--vn,, •• -

I 
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